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Full year audited results for the year ended 30 June 2024

 
Highlights
 

• Net real ised gains  of A 32.2m (F Y23: A 51.5m), with concluded case investments  genera(ng a 2.4x mul(ple of cash
invested (MOIC)

• Total  income of A 44.7m (FY23: A 67.7m)

• Profi t after tax for the period of A 12.7m (FY23: A 31.5m)

• Dividend of 1.25p (FY23: 2.25p)

• Net assets  of A 188.9m (FY23: A 183.5m) with cases  conservatively valued at 1.9x cash invested

· Book value per share of 94.4 pence (FY23: 90.3 pence)

• Total  new commitments  of A 279m added in the period (FY23: A 176m)

• Fund I  which comprises  US 150m of external  capital  i s  ful ly commi8ed and Fund I I  which comprises  US 291m of
external  capital  i s  58% committed

· Share buyback program is  70% complete and remains  ongoing

 
Strategic Update
 

· The Company is  con(nuing i ts  trans i(on to asset management. Fund I I I  marke(ng to commence towards  the end
of 2024 calendar year

· Preparing a  discipl ined and staged entry into the US market. 

· Acquired the intel lectual  property of a  cu;ng edge legal  finance Big Data/AI  pla>orm. Appl ica(on of this
technology to form part of US market entry and drive enhanced origination and investment di l igence more broadly
across  the Company

 
Commen#ng on the results, Patrick Moloney, C EO  of L i#ga#on Capital Management, said: "We are pleased to have extended
our industry-leading track record with successful case outcomes over the past 12 months driving our 13-year investment
performance to an impressive 2.9x mul ple of invested capital. O ur transi on from balance sheet funder to high return asset
manager is progressing well, and we are looking forward to engaging with our LP  investor base as we commence marke ng for
Fund III.
 
"W ith our London opera ons firmly established, having generated realisa ons of over £100m at a M O IC  exceeding 3x, we are
now strategically preparing for a disciplined and staged entry into the US market. A s part of this strategic ini a ve, we've
recently acquired the IP  of a leading legal finance Big Data/A I pla5orm. We see substan al opportuni es to leverage this
technology across our business in an asset class that is ideally suited for such innovation."
 
Analyst and investor presentation
 
There wi l l  be a  analyst cal l  today at 10:00 am BST. Analysts  wishing to a8end should contact l cm@tavistock.co.uk to
register.
 
The Company wi l l  a lso be hos(ng a l ive presenta(on for a l l  exis(ng and poten(al  shareholders  via  the I nvestor Meet
Company at 11:00 am today. If you would l ike to attend this  presentation, please register us ing the fol lowing l ink:
 
https://www.investormeetcompany.com/l i tigation-capital -management-l imited/register-investor
 
The presenta(on is  open to a l l  exis(ng and poten(al  shareholders . I nvestors  who already fol low LC M on the I nvestor Meet
Company pla>orm wi l l  automa(cal ly be invited. Q ues(ons can be submi8ed pre-event via  your I nvestor Meet Company
dashboard up unti l  9:00 am today or at any time during the event.
 

Enquiries
 
Litigation Capital Management c/o Tavistock
Patrick Moloney, Chief Executive Officer
David Col l ins , Chief Financial  Officer

 

 
Canaccord (Nomad and Joint Broker) Tel : 020 7523 8000
Bobbie Hi l l iam
Andrew Potts

Investec Bank plc (Joint Broker) Tel : 020 7597 5970
David Anderson
 
Tavistock (PR and IR) Tel : 020 7920 3150
Simon Hudson
Katie Hopkins

lcm@tavistock.co.uk

mailto:lcm@tavistock.co.uk
https://www.investormeetcompany.com/litigation-capital-management-limited/register-investor


 

NOTES TO EDITORS

Li(ga(on Capital  Management (LC M) is  an al terna(ve asset manager specia l is ing in disputes  financing solu(ons

interna(onal ly, which operates  two bus iness  models . The first i s  direct investments  made from LC M's  permanent balance

sheet capital  and the second is  third party fund management. Under those two bus iness  models , LC M currently pursues

three investment strategies : S ingle-case funding, Por>ol io funding and Acquis i(ons of cla ims. LC M generates  i ts  income

from both i ts  direct investments  and also performance fees  through asset management.

 

LC M has  an unparal leled track record driven by discipl ined project selec(on and robust risk management. Currently

headquartered in Sydney, with offices in London, S ingapore, Brisbane and Melbourne, LC M l is ted on AI M in December 2018,

trading under the ticker LIT.

 

www.lcmfinance.com

 

Chairman's Statement
 
Dear Shareholders ,
 
As  I  reflect on another year of strategic progress , I  am pleased to report that Li(ga(on Capital  Management (LC M) has
con(nued to execute i ts  long-term vis ion with res i l ience and agi l i ty, despite the chal lenges  presented by the broader
macroeconomic environment. Our abi l i ty to navigate these chal lenges  whi le continuing to del iver sol id results  underscores
the strength of our divers i fied approach and the commitment of our team.
 
O ne of our core objec(ves  over the past few years  has  been our trans i(on towards  an asset management model . I  am
pleased to report that we con(nue to make s ignificant strides  in this  direc(on. To date, we have raised over US 440m of
third party capital  from a number of high qual i ty l imited partners  across  two funds. As  we approach the end of this
calendar year, we wi l l  begin marke(ng for Fund I I I  and with a l l  investors  from Fund I  par(cipa(ng in Fund I I , we hope to
secure a  high level  of investor con(nuity once again. We are partnering with some of the highest qual i ty l imited partners
and those investors  view our rela(onship as  being for the long-term poten(al ly across  mul(ple funds. I f we are able to
con(nue del ivering strong performance and they con(nue to support us  in future fund raises  then I  bel ieve the long-term
benefi ts  for shareholders  could be substantia l . 
 
I n l ine with our growth strategy, we are now preparing to expand into the United States , by far the largest legal  finance
market in the world. This  represents  a  major step for LC M and presents  a  s ignificant growth opportunity. The US legal
finance market, which is  s(l l  in a  rela(vely early phase of development, offers  us  the poten(al  to tap into a  market
estimated to be worth bi l l ions  of dol lars .
 
O ur expansion into the US wi l l  be conducted with the same discipl ined approach that has  served us  so wel l  in our exis(ng
markets . I ndeed, with our London office now wel l  establ ished and on a firm foo(ng, we feel  that the (me is  now right to
enter the US. As  we have done in our exis(ng terri tories , we wi l l  seek to establ ish strategic partnerships  with leading law
firms and a8orneys  and we wi l l  con(nue to focus  on high-qual i ty cases  that a l ign with our risk management and return
expectations.
 
As  we look to the future, we are a lso making investments  in cu;ng-edge technologies  as  we bel ieve that legal  finance is
perfectly suited for the appl ica(on of Big Data and ar(ficial  intel l igence (AI ) s trategies . We have recently acquired the
intel lectual  property of one of the pioneering pla>orms in this  space in legal  finance and we are working with the founder
who bui l t the bus iness  over a  5 year period. We aim to be an early mover in this  space and see a number of opportuni(es
including enhancing our origina(on capabi l i(es , be8er assess ing risk, improving case selec(on, and bolstering the
efficiency of our opera(ons. These investments  are not just a  step toward moderniza(on-they represent a  strategic edge in
a competitive asset class .
 
This  year a lso saw an important trans i(on in our leadership team. Mary Gangemi has  stepped down from her role as  Chief
Financial  O fficer and from the Board of Directors . O n behalf of the Board, I  would l ike to thank Mary for her contribu(ons
to LCM during her tenure and we wish her every success  in her future endeavours .
 
I n l ine with our commitment to ensuring con(nuity in leadership and strengthening our execu(ve team, we announced the
appointment of David Col l ins  as  our new Chief F inancial  O fficer. David brings  a  wealth of experience in both finance and
capital  markets , and we are confident that his  experience wi l l  be invaluable as  we con(nue to execute our strategic plans.
David's  appointment marks  an important step in ensuring LC M is  wel l -prepared for the next phase of i ts  development,
including our expansion into new markets  and our ongoing technological  advancements .
 
As  we head into the next financial  year, I  am confident that LC M is  wel l -pos i(oned to con(nue i ts  growth trajectory. O ur
focus  on becoming a leading asset manager in the l i(ga(on finance space, our expansion into the US market, and our
investments  in advanced technology wi l l  drive sustainable growth and enhance shareholder value.
 
The Board is  pleased to declare a  final  dividend to shareholders  for the financial  year ending 30 June 2024 of 1.25p per
share. The dividend wi l l  be paid on 4 December 2024 to shareholders  on the register on 1 November 2024, being the record
date. The ordinary shares  wi l l  be marked ex-dividend on 31 October 2024.
 
I  would l ike to take this  opportunity to thank our dedicated team, whose exper(se and commitment con(nue to drive our
success . I  would a lso l ike to extend my grati tude to our shareholders  for their continued support and trust in our vis ion.
 
We look forward to updating you on our progress  throughout the coming year.
 
Jonathan Moulds
Non-Executive Chairman
 
 

http://www.lcmfinance.com/


 
CEO Statement
 
O ver the past year, we have made s ignificant strides  in our strategic transforma(on from a capital -intens ive balance sheet
l i(ga(on funder to a  capital -l ight asset manager. O ur discipl ined investment approach con(nues to del iver strong results ,
with cases  concluding during the period genera(ng a 2.4x mul(ple of invested capital  (M O I C), closely a l igned with our
long-term average of 2.9x. Addi(onal ly, we have del ivered record levels  of new commitments  in the period, and our two
flagship investment funds  have del ivered robust performance to date for our fund investors .
 
Looking ahead, the long-term poten(al  of our strategy to create meaningful  shareholder value is  clear. I nvestment
management bus inesses  that generate high returns  on investment and earn s ignificant performance fees  rank among some
of the most profitable bus inesses  global ly. We are a8rac(ng the same sophis(cated l imited partners  (LPs) who have
fuel led the huge successes  of private equity, venture capital , and other a l ternative asset classes . 
 
O ur performance thus  far for LPs  has  been outstanding, with Fund I  investors  real is ing a  net I R R of 60% to date aPer a l l
costs  and performance fees  paid to LC M (US 29m to date, including those rela(ng to the recent case conclus ion post period
end). This  level  of performance al igns  with our long-term track record and firmly pos i(ons us  in the top (er of a l terna(ve
investment managers , where a net I R R exceeding 20% is  typical ly cons idered excep(onal . I  am confident that i f we con(nue
to scale effec(vely and cons istently meet or surpass  the expecta(ons of our LPs , the poten(al  value crea(on for our
shareholders  could be s igni ficant.
 
O ur management team is  ful ly a l igned with this  vis ion with substan(al  personal  shareholdings  in the company. I  hold a
9% stake, our Chairman, Jonathan Moulds, who joined in 2019, has  independently acquired a 4.5% stake, and col lec(vely,
our smal l  team of 25 owns approximately 17% of the company. This  level  of ownership underscores  our confidence in
LCM's  future and al igns  our interests  closely with those of our shareholders .
 
As  we move forward, I  am focused on three strategic priori ties :

1.     Successful ly completing our trans ition to asset management;
2.     Entering the US market in a  discipl ined manner;
3.     Implementing Big Data / AI strategies  to enhance our origination and underwriting capabi l i ties .

 
Transition to Asset Management
Since March 2020, we have raised over US 440 mi l l ion of external  capital  across  two funds: US 150 mi l l ion in the LC M
Global  Alternative Returns  Fund (Fund I); and US 290 mi l l ion in the LCM Global  Alternative Returns  Fund II (Fund II).
 
For Fund I , we have successful ly commi8ed US 150 mi l l ion across  26 cases , co-inves(ng alongs ide our balance sheet on a
75:25 bas is . As  at the end of June 2024, s ix of these cases  have concluded, a l l  with pos i(ve outcomes, genera(ng a 2.5x net
M O I C for our investors  and a net I R R of 60% aPer costs  and fees. This  strong performance enabled us  to return around 70%
of investors ' capital  as  at 30 June 2024 whi le approximately three quarters  of their investments  remain active. 
 
Fund I I  was  launched in the second hal f of 2022 with a l l  Fund I  investors  par(cipa(ng alongs ide new investors . To date,
Fund II has  committed capital  to 33 matters , continuing our 75:25 co-investment model . As  at the end of June 2024, the fund
was 58% committed and 7% deployed with no cases  concluded to date.
 
We plan to commence marke(ng for Fund I I I  towards  the end of this  calendar year and are a iming to secure a  high level  of
investor con(nuity from our prior funds  as  we bui ld long-term, enduring rela(onships  with our high qual i ty LP  investor
base.
 
As  our bus iness  has  scaled, opera(ng expenses  as  a  percentage of commi8ed capital  have decl ined from 7.8% five years
ago to 2.6% in the current period, a  trajectory we expect to con(nue, ul(mately fa l l ing to around 2%. This  trans i(on
demonstrates  our shi ft to a  sustainable asset management model .
  
Entering the US Market
Since moving to London three years  ago, my focus  has  been on establ ishing our presence in the UK  market in a  discipl ined
manner. Drawing on our extens ive experience in Austral ia  - the world's  oldest l i(ga(on funding market - we have
successful ly demonstrated that our model  can be effectively appl ied in other common law jurisdictions.
 
The performance of our London office has  been par(cularly encouraging, with over £100 mi l l ion (cAUD200 mi l l ion) in
proceeds real ised for LC M at a  M O I C of over 3x inclus ive of losses . Addi(onal ly, we have made good progress  in S ingapore
with one of our larger wins  in the period being originated in that office. W hi le there is  s(l l  much work to be done, both our
UK and Singapore operations  are now fi rmly establ ished in their respective markets .
 
O ur expansion beyond Austral ia  has  enabled us  to scale, pos i(oning the bus iness  to capital ize on the long-term poten(al
offered by our trans i(on to an asset management model . W ith this  growth trajectory in mind, I  bel ieve the (me is  right to
enter the US market - by far the largest disputes  market in the world, exceeding the s ize of the next largest market (the UK) by
more than tenfold. We have already made a few opportunis(c investments  in the US from our London office and we have
s imi larly explored and made investments  in the Canadian market.
 
The US market is  highly a8rac(ve for several  reasons. F i rstly, i ts  sheer scale. US law firms generate over US 700 bi l l ion in
revenues, with 20 to 30 per cent of those revenues es(mated to come from disputes  (l i(ga(on and arbitra(on). Secondly,
US lawyers  are accustomed to managing risk, with contingency fees  - where lawyers  forego part of their fees  in exchange for
a share of the proceeds from successful  outcomes - being a  widespread prac(ce. This  creates  s ignificant opportuni(es  for
l i(ga(on funders  to establ ish long-term financing rela(onships  with US law firms, enabl ing meaningful  capital
deployment on a8rac(ve terms. Lastly, the US is  a  data-rich environment, providing fer(le ground for the appl ica(on of Big
Data and arti ficia l  intel l igence strategies  in a  legal  market ripe for such innovation.
 
There is  a  smal l  number of legal  finance bus inesses  that have been successful  in the US and we bel ieve that a  market of this
magnitude has  room for several  more successful  players . As  one of the oldest and most respected l i(ga(on funders
global ly, LCM is  wel l -pos itioned to establ ish i tsel f as  a  leading name in this  dynamic market.
 
Implementing Big Data and AI strategies
I n l ine with our strategic objec(ves, we have recently completed the acquis i(on of the intel lectual  property of a  leading
technology pla>orm special izing in legal  analy(cs. This  acquis i(on, secured for a  modest investment, provides  us  with a
powerful  tool  to leverage Big Data and ar(ficial  intel l igence strategies  to s ignificantly enhance both our origina(on and
underwriting processes.
 
By integra(ng this  technology into our opera(ons, we aim to sharpen our abi l i ty to assess  legal  disputes  more accurately
and efficiently, thereby improving our decis ion-making and risk assessment capabi l i(es. This  technology wi l l  a l low us  to



and efficiently, thereby improving our decis ion-making and risk assessment capabi l i(es. This  technology wi l l  a l low us  to
better identi fy promis ing investment opportunities  and streaml ine the underwriting process , ensuring that we can scale our
business  in a  more data-driven and systematic manner.
 
This  acquis i(on also a l igns  perfectly with our broader strategy to differen(ate ourselves  in the US market-a highly data-
rich environment. By deploying cu;ng-edge AI  and data analy(cs , we aim to pos i(on LC M in a  differen(ated way, se;ng
ourselves  apart from tradi(onal  peers . O ur abi l i ty to harness  these technological  advancements  wi l l  not only enhance our
core operations  but a lso establ ish us  as  a  forward-thinking player in the evolving landscape of legal  finance.
 
Looking ahead, we plan to integrate this  technology across  our global  operations, ensuring that our expansion is  supported
by the most sophis(cated tools  avai lable. By doing so, we are pos i(oning ourselves  at the intersec(on of legal  finance and
technology, which we bel ieve wi l l  be key to our long-term growth and success .
 
Well-Financed for Long Term Growth
We are close to final izing a  new debt faci l i ty that wi l l  be of increased s ize and lower cost compared to our exis(ng faci l i ty.
We wi l l  provide a ful l  update to the market when this  refinancing has  completed.
 
As  communicated with our interim results , we had been exploring the retai l  el igible bond market in London as  a  poten(al
source of debt financing. We bel ieve that the retai l  bond market wi l l  be a8rac(ve to LC M in the longer term but the
prevai l ing market condi(ons earl ier in our financial  year would have required LC M to lock in long-term debt at high
interest rates . Having already seen a number of central  banks  begin to cut interest rates  we think the decis ion to pursue an
alternative refinancing was the right thing to do. 
 
Market Developments
Li(ga(on finance gained mainstream a8en(on over the past year, par(cularly in l ight of the scandal  involving the sub-
postmasters  of the Royal  Mai l  in the UK . This  case highl ighted the cri(cal  role that l i(ga(on finance plays  in providing
access  to justice for pla inti ffs  who might otherwise lack the resources  to pursue their cla ims.
 
Although we did not fund the Royal  Mai l  case, we have numerous examples , both historical  and current, where we have
stood up for individuals  and smal ler enti ties  in their pursuit of justice.
 
The main trend that we have seen in the UK  over the last twelve months  is  the ris ing number of col lec(ve ac(ons being filed
in the Competition Appeal  Tribunal  (CAT). We have invested in a  smal l  number of these cases  which carry large budgets  and
seek extens ive damages. The market for group cla ims in the UK  is  s(l l  in i ts  infancy but we expect our experience from the
wel l -developed Austral ian market pos itions  us  wel l  to understand how procedures  in the CAT may play out over time.  
 
I n Austral ia , the market for class  ac(ons remains  healthy and compe((ve. LC M's  close rela(onships  with key law firms as
wel l  as  i ts  own abi l i ty to originate cla ims means that the strong pipel ine of cla ims for funding is  l ikely to continue.
 
As  wel l  as  class  ac(ons, in Austral ia  LC M is  financing insolvency cla ims and commercial  cla ims. The insolvency cla ims we
have funded con(nue to be smal ler but generate healthy returns  and we expect that with (ghtened economic condi(ons we
wi l l  see some larger insolvency cla ims in the coming years .
 
We are a lso seeing increas ing interest for the funding of insolvency cla ims both in S ingapore and Hong Kong and have
positioned our team in Singapore to take advantage of this  opportunity.
 
LC M funds a  broad range of commercial  cla ims across  the APAC region and there are no restric(ons on the types  of cla im
we are able to fund. A par(cular trend we have no(ced in recent (mes is  cla ims on trade credit insurance made by trade
credit providers  whose finance faci l i(es  were defaulted on by commodi(es  traders  fol lowing the disrup(on to supply
chains  during and fol lowing the pandemic. LC M is  currently funding four of these cla ims in the Austral ian courts  and
considering the financing of others  in Singapore.
 
Dividend
The Board has  declared a final  dividend of 1.25p per share for the financial  year ending 30 June 2024 (F Y23: 2.25p). The
Board wi l l  continue to balance the opportunities  for reinvesting in growth alongs ide returning capital  to shareholders .
 
Share Buyback Programme  
O n 5 O ctober 2023, the Company announced a share buyback programme in respect of i ts  ordinary shares  up to a
maximum considera(on of A 10.0 mi l l ion from the date of the announcement (the "Share Buyback P rogramme"). The
purpose of the Share Buyback P rogramme was to reduce the share capital  of the Company in order to return value to
shareholders .
 
To date the Company has  purchased 3,681,369 ordinary shares , represen(ng approximately 3.18 per cent. of the total
share capital .
 
The directors  intend to con(nue with the share buy back programme un(l  the maximum considera(on, as  set out in the 5
O ctober 2023 announced, has  been u(l ised. Accordingly LC M intends to enter into a  further i rrevocable non-discre(onary
instruc(on with Canaccord Genuity Limited ("Canaccord") on 17 September 2024 in rela(on to the purchase by Canaccord,
ac(ng as  principal  during the period commencing on 17 September 2024 and ending upon the publ ica(on of the interim
unaudited results  of the Company for the s ix months  ended December 2024, of O rdinary Shares  for an aggregate
considera(on (excluding expenses) of no greater than A 10.0 mi l l ion (including those O rdinary Shares  purchased between
5 O ctober 2023 and 17 September 2024) and the s imultaneous on-sale of such O rdinary Shares  by Canaccord to LC M,
where they wi l l  be held in treasury. Canaccord wi l l  make i ts  trading decis ions  concerning the (ming of the purchases  of
Ordinary Shares  independently of, and uninfluenced by, the Company.
 
The Share Buyback P rogramme wi l l  be conducted within certain pre-set parameters , and in accordance with Chapter 12 of
the UK  Lis(ng Rules  and the provis ions  of the Market Abuse Regula(on 596/2014/EU as  amended by the Market Abuse
(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regula(ons 2019 ("UK  M AR") and the Commiss ion Delegated Regula(on 2016/1052/EU as  amended
by Technical  Standards  (Market Abuse Regula(on) (EU Exit) I nstrument 2019 which both form part of the law of the United
K ingdom by virtue of the European Union (W ithdrawal) Act 2018. Notwithstanding the average dai ly volume restric(ons set
out in Ar(cle 3(3) (b) of the Commiss ion Delegated Regula(on (EU) 2016/1052, the Company may make purchases  in excess
of these volume restrictions, subject to prevai l ing market conditions  and l iquidity.
 
Outlook
Looking ahead, we see a s ignificant long-term growth opportunity in the vast and s(l l  underpenetrated global  legal  finance
market. As  we continue to expand our presence, we remain focused on three key strategic priori ties :

1.     Trans itioning to an Asset Management Model : This  shi ft wi l l  enable us  to scale our operations  and enhance
revenue streams, providing a  stable foundation for future growth.

2.     Entering the US Market: The US legal  disputes  market, being the largest global ly, offers  tremendous potentia l . We



2.     Entering the US Market: The US legal  disputes  market, being the largest global ly, offers  tremendous potentia l . We
are confident that our unique pos itioning and establ ished expertise wi l l  a l low us  to capital ize on this  opportunity.

3.     Leveraging Data and AI to Enhance Origination and Underwriting: By integrating cutting-edge technology into our
processes , we aim to sharpen our competitive edge, enabl ing more efficient identi fication and evaluation of
investment opportunities .

 
W ith these priori(es  in place, we are confident in our abi l i ty to drive sustainable long-term value crea(on for our
shareholders , ensuring that we remain at the forefront of the legal  finance industry.
 
Patrick Moloney
Chief Executive Officer
 
 
Financial Review
 
Profit and Loss - LCM only (A m)
 

 FY 2024 FY 2023

Concluded investments  - Proceeds on LCM capital 43.3m 59.6m
Concluded investments  - Performance fees  on 3P
capital 12.7m 24.6m

Concluded investments  - LCM capital  invested ("Cost" ( 23.8m) ( 32.7m)

Net realised gains from concluded investments 32.2m 51.5m

Fair value movement:  

Fair value write-off on concluded investments ( 30.9m) ( 37.4m)

Net fa i r value upl i ft to ongoing investments 43.4m 53.6m

Net fair value movement 12.5m 16.2m

Total income 44.7m 67.7m

Operating expenses ( 19.0m) ( 15.7m)

FX gains/losses 0.5m ( 1.2m)

Operating profit 26.3m 50.8m

Finance costs ( 10.2m) ( 8.1m)

Profit before tax 16.1m 42.7m

Tax ( 3.3m) ( 11.3m)

Net income 12.7m 31.4m

   

Basic EPS (cents) 12.01 29.53

Di luted EPS (cents) 11.33 28.33

 

   
2024 Financial Performance
LC M extended i ts  track record of successful ly inves(ng in uncorrelated l i(ga(on finance assets  during the 2024 financial
year. O ur investments  concluding in the period generated a 2.4x mul(ple of invested capital  (M O I C) to LC M, cons istent with
our long-term track record of 2.7x.
 
These concluded investments  generated net real ised gains  to LC M of A 32.2 mi l l ion. These gains  are composed of A 19.5
mi l l ion of profits  on inves(ng our own capital  (F Y23: A 26.9 mi l l ion) and A 12.7 mi l l ion from performance fees  (F Y23: A
24.6 mi l l ion) earned on third party capital .
 
O ur strategic shiP towards  an asset management model  i s  beginning to yield s ignificant benefits , as  evidenced by the
strong performance fees  generated in both the current and prior year. We expect this  trend to con(nue, with the majori ty of
our current por>ol io (45 out of a  total  of 58) now compris ing cases  funded through the asset management model . We have
raised two funds to date with total  external  funds  under management of US 441 mi l l ion. Both funds  feature performance
fees  of 25% of profi ts  on third-party capital  above an 8% hurdle rate, increas ing to 35% of profi ts  exceeding a  20% return. 
 
The net real ised gains  from concluded investments  of A 32.2 mi l l ion was primari ly driven by four successful  investments ,
offset by one loss  at tria l . The four successful  investments  generated a combined gross  profit of A 42.7 mi l l ion, reflec(ng
an aggregate MOIC of 4.7x. The loss  at tria l  resulted in a  real ised loss  of A 8.4 mi l l ion. 
 
O f the four successful  investments , two were funded via  our asset management model , contribu(ng A 12.7 mi l l ion in
performance fees. The net internal  rate of return (I R R) aPer performance fees  to fund investors  on these concluded cases
was 46%.   
 
The case that lost at tria l  was  ful ly funded by our balance sheet. Fol lowing a thorough review of our investment decis ion in
rela(on to this  case, we are confident that the original  decis ion was sound. However, as  with any investment bus iness , not
al l  investments  wi l l  succeed. O ur long-term track record underscores  the robustness  of our investment decis ion-making
process , and we remain optimistic about our future successes.
 
The rela(vely smal l  number of concluded cases  driving our 2024 financial  result i s  cons istent with prior years . For
instance, in both 2023 and 2022, three case conclus ions  in each period accounted for the vast majori ty of gross  profit. As
we con(nue to grow and ful ly trans i(on to the asset management model , we expect the variabi l i ty in our gross  profitabi l i ty
to gradual ly diminish over (me. Un(l  then, year-on-year comparisons  may be less  meaningful , as  outcomes wi l l  largely
depend on the (ming and s ize of case conclus ions. O ur primary focus  remains  on extending our long-term track record of
successful  investments .
 
W hi le our bus iness  operates  on a cashflow bas is , our financial  s tatements  are presented on a fa i r value bas is , providing
investors  with ins ight into the poten(al  value of our ongoing investments , which would otherwise be reported at the value
of the cash invested. Given the unique nature of our investments  and lack of a  wel l -developed secondary market, they
cannot be marked to market. We therefore fa ir value these assets  us ing a  bo8om-up case-by-case approach that bui lds
value based on observable mi lestones  achieved, cons istent with the approach taken by our sector peers .
 



 
W hen a case investment concludes  the real ised gain in the P &L is  calculated as  the gross  proceeds due from that
investment (including performance fees) minus  the cash that LC M invested. At the same (me, the fa ir value asset related to
that investment is  removed from our balance sheet. 
 
For cases  concluded in the 2024 financial  year, the achieved M O I C of 2.4x capital  invested closely matched the fa ir value
of 2.3x held for those same assets  prior to their conclus ion. As  a  result, the fa ir value write-off of the concluded cases  of A
30.9 mi l l ion was s imi lar to the total  real ised gain of A 32.2 mi l l ion. I n the prior period, a  M O I C of 2.6x was  achieved on
concluded cases  compared to a  fa i r value of 2.1x, resul(ng in a  real ised gain that comfortably exceeded the fa ir value
write-off.
 
The net fa i r value upl iP to ongoing cases  during the period was A 43.4 mi l l ion (F Y23: A 53.6 mi l l ion), with ongoing cases  on
our balance sheet valued at 1.9x the cumulative cash invested as  of the end of the period (FY23: 1.8x).
 
The combina(on of the fa ir value write-off on concluded investments  and the fa ir value upl iP to ongoing investments  gives
the net fa i r value impact on the P&L of A 12.5 mi l l ion in FY24, which is  comparable to the prior year (FY23: A 16.2 mi l l ion).
 
Total  income for the period was A 44.7 mi l l ion, a  decrease from the previous  period (F Y23: A 67.7 mi l l ion), primari ly due to
the larger s ize of case conclus ions  in the 2023 financial  year, which was LCM's  most successful  period to date.
 
O pera(ng expenses  increased to A 19.0 mi l l ion, up from A 15.7 mi l l ion in the prior year. The increase is  mainly
attributable to the expansion of our team as  we seek to enhance our origination capabi l i ties  across  key markets .
 
O pera(ng profit for the period was A 26.3 mi l l ion, down from A 50.8 mi l l ion in the previous  year, reflec(ng the lower gross
profi t on concluded case investments  compared to the prior period, as  outl ined above.
 
F inance costs  rose to A 10.2 mi l l ion (F Y23: A 8.1 mi l l ion), due to the higher interest rate environment. We are wel l  advanced
in nego(a(ons to refinance our debt faci l i ty and are a iming to lower the interest rate from the 13.0% rate on the exis(ng
faci l i ty.
 
P rofit before tax for the period was A 16.1 mi l l ion (F Y23: A 42.7 mi l l ion) with a  tax charge of A 3.3 mi l l ion (F Y23:  A 11.3
mi l l ion). Going forward, we expect an effec(ve tax rate of 27.5%, being the average of the UK  (25%) and Austral ian (30%)
corporation tax rates .
 
The Board has  declared a final  dividend of 1.25p per share for the financial  year ending 30 June 2024 (F Y23: 2.25p). The
Board wi l l  con(nue to balance the opportuni(es  for reinves(ng in growth alongs ide returning capital  to shareholders . The
dividend wi l l  be paid on 4 December 2024 to shareholders  on the register on 1 November 2024, being the record date. The
ordinary shares  wi l l  be marked ex-dividend on 31 October 2024.
 
Balance sheet - LCM only (A m)

FY 2024 FY 2023

  Cash 53.0m 83.0m
  Debtors 15.0m 13.9m
  Investments  at fa i r value 202.9m 165.8m
  Investments  held at cost 42.1m 37.3m
  Other assets 1.5m 1.7m
  Total assets 314.4m 301.7m
  Borrowings ( 61.9m) ( 69.0m)
  Tax payable ( 0.9m) ( 7.8m)
  Deferred tax l iabi l i ty ( 43.6m) ( 36.3m)
  Other creditors ( 19.1m) ( 5.2m)
  Total liabilities ( 125.5m) ( 118.2m)
  Net assets 188.9m 183.5m

  NAV per share (pence) - Bas ic 94.4 90.3
  NAV per share (pence) - Di luted 89.0 86.6
 
As  of 30 June 2024, LC M was ac(vely invested in 58 ongoing cases  (F Y23: 53) with a  total  balance sheet value of A 245.0
mi l l ion (F Y23: A 203.1 mi l l ion). This  valua(on includes  A 42.1 mi l l ion related to three investments  (F Y23: A 37.3 mi l l ion for
four investments) that are held at cost for historic accoun(ng reasons, and A 202.9 mi l l ion (F Y23: A 165.8 mi l l ion)
attributed to 55 investments  (FY23: 49) that are held at fa i r value.
 
As  previous ly noted, at the period end our case investments  are held at an aggregate value of 1.9x the cumula(ve LC M cash
invested into those same cases, a  modest increase from the 1.8x mul(ple at the end of the prior period. This  represents  a
discount compared to our real ised long-term track record of 2.7x, reflecting our conservative approach to fa ir value.
 
I t's  a lso worth no(ng that our long-term track record of 2.7x would trans late to a  M O I C over 4.0x for LC M under the asset
management model . This  reflects  the model 's  lower capital  intens ity and high poten(al  for performance fees, further
underscoring the conservative nature of our fa i r value methodology.
 
O ur cash balance at the period end stood at A 53.0 mi l l ion (F Y23: A 83.0 mi l l ion), reflec(ng a robust l iquidity pos i(on.
W hen offset against borrowings  of A 61.9 mi l l ion (F Y23: A 69.0 mi l l ion) this  results  in a  net debt pos i(on of A 8.9 mi l l ion
(FY23: net cash of A 14 mi l l ion).
 
Debtors , which comprises  amounts  receivable from successful  investments  stood at A 15.0 mi l l ion (F Y23: A 13.9 mi l l ion).
Since the period end, A 11.6 mi l l ion of this  balance has  been col lected in cash.
 
Beyond our borrowings, deferred tax of A 43.6 mi l l ion (F Y23: A 36.3 mi l l ion) i s  the largest l iabi l i ty on our balance sheet. A
29.6 mi l l ion of this  balance relates  to deferred tax on the fa ir value of our investments  and A 16.6 mi l l ion relates  to
deduc(ble funding on l i(ga(on assets . This  tax is  unreal ised and wi l l  only become payable upon the successful
conclus ion of the related cases.
 
Other assets  primari ly comprises  prepayments  and securi ty deposits  for leases.
 
Net assets  increased modestly over the 2024 financial  year. The net income of A 14.7 mi l l ion generated during the period
was par(al ly offset by the F Y23 dividend payment of A 5.0 mi l l ion and the cost of shares  repurchased of A 5.4 mi l l ion. The



was par(al ly offset by the F Y23 dividend payment of A 5.0 mi l l ion and the cost of shares  repurchased of A 5.4 mi l l ion. The
A 10mi l l ion share buyback program announced with our 2023 financial  year results  remains  ongoing and is  expected to
complete during the 2025 financial  year.
 
Reflec(ng the reduced number of shares  fol lowing the par(al  comple(on of the share buyback, net assets  per share
increased to 94.4p (FY23: 90.3p).
 
Cash Flow - LCM only (A m)

FY 2024 FY 2023

  Opening cash balance 83.0m 29.3m

  Cash generated from concluded investments 56.7m 96.8m

  Cash invested into ongoing cases  (case funding) ( 39.7m) ( 36.3m)

  Operating expenses ( 17.0m) ( 12.1m)

  Net finance costs  paid ( 9.0m) ( 6.0m)

  Dividend and share buyback ( 10.4m) -

  Debt repayment ( 8.1m) 9.6m

  Other ( 2.5m) 1.7m

 Closing cash balance 53.0m 83.0m

  Net debt 8.9m ( 14.0m)
 
During the period, cash generated from concluded investments  in the period amounted to A 56.7 mi l l ion (F Y23: A 96.8
mi l l ion), inclus ive of A 12.7 mi l l ion in performance fees  (FY23: A 24.6 mi l l ion).
 
The cash invested in case funding in the period total led A 39.7 mi l l ion (F Y23: A 36.3 mi l l ion), spread across  65 investments ,
of which 58 remained ongoing at the period end.
 
O pera(ng expenses  increased to A 14.8 mi l l ion (F Y23: A 10.3 mi l l ion) primari ly due to the expansion of the origina(on
team, as  previous ly outl ined.
 
Net finance costs  paid rose to A 9.0 mi l l ion (FY23: A 6.0 mi l l ion) driven by the higher interest rate environment. 
 
Tax paid was  A 2.8 mi l l ion (F Y23: A 0.0 mi l l ion) rela(ng to UK  tax paid on successful  case conclus ions  in the prior
financial  year. 
 
I n our 2024 financial  year, we returned A 10.4 mi l l ion of capital  to shareholders  with A 5.0 mi l l ion distributed as
dividends and A 5.4 mi l l ion through the share buyback program.
 
We repaid A 8.1 mi l l ion of our borrowings  during the year (F Y23: A 9.6 mi l l ion increase in borrowings) to reduce interest
costs , reflecting our robust l iquidity pos ition.
 
At the end of the financial  period, we held A 53.0 mi l l ion in cash (F Y23: A 83.0 mi l l ion) and had a net debt pos i(on of A 8.9
mi l l ion (FY23: A 14.0 mi l l ion net cash). 
 
New commitments
New commitments  during the period rose s ignificantly to A 279.0m (F Y23: A 176.3m) reflec(ng our strategic focus  on
scal ing the bus iness . A substan(al  por(on of this  growth was driven by our London office, where we have invested in a
select number of large group cla ims that are being pursued through the Competition Appeal  Tribunal . 
 

 
Committed and Invested Capital 
As of the end of the period, LC M was ac(vely invested in 58 ongoing case investments . Among these, 13 were cases  ful ly
funded by our balance sheet (of which three cases  comprise the majori ty of the invested capital , whi le 45 were co-funded
through our asset management model , where LCM typical ly funds  25% of the investment cost. 
 
Commi8ed capital , which represent LC M's  share of total  commitments  across  a l l  ac(ve cases  net of conclus ions  and
termina(ons, increased to A 725.0 mi l l ion at the period end (F Y23: A 484.0 mi l l ion). O f this  amount, A 281.0 mi l l ion has
already been deployed. 



Asset management
Since 2020, we have been trans itioning our bus iness  model  from solely funding investments  through our own balance sheet
to opera(ng as  an asset manager. I n this  capacity, we raise third party capital  and invest in new cases  with the funding
typical ly spl i t 25% from our own balance sheet and 75% from our l imited partners  (LPs) invested in our funds. This  model
not only reduces  capital  demands on LC M but a lso provides  the poten(al  to earn substan(al  performance fees, ranging
from 25% to 35% of the gross  profi ts  generated for our LPs  above a minimum hurdle level . 
 
To date, we have successful ly ra ised US D441 mi l l ion in external  funds  across  two funds: Fund 1 (US D150 mi l l ion) and Fund
II (USD291 mi l l ion). 
 
Fund I  has  invested in 26 case investments  and was ful ly commi8ed and 71% deployed as  of 30 June 2024. S ix of these 26
cases  had concluded by that date, a l l  with successful  outcomes, genera(ng gross  proceeds of US D101.9 mi l l ion on LP
capital  of US D29.7 mi l l ion. APer accoun(ng for performance fees  of US D24.9 mi l l ion paid to LC M, LP  investors  have
achieved a 2.5x MOIC and a net IRR of 60%.
 
Fund I I  has  invested into 33 case investments  to date, and as  of 30 June 2024, i t was  58% commi8ed and 7% deployed. The
investments  in Fund II are performing in l ine with our expectations. None of these investments  have yet concluded. 
 
We anticipate commencing marketing efforts  for Fund III  towards  the end of this  calendar year.

Post period end
Shortly aPer the period end, we had a successful  conclus ion in rela(on to a  bi lateral  investment treaty cla im that was
funded 25% by LC M and 75% by Fund I  investors . A total  of A 5.9 mi l l ion was invested in the case genera(ng revenue of A
29.6 mi l l ion, equivalent to a  5.0x M O I C on a global  bas is . LC M's  return was further ampl ified through performance fees  of
A 6.1 mi l l ion, resul(ng in a  total  return of A 13.5 mi l l ion from a A 1.5 mi l l ion investment - a  pleas ing 9.5x M O I C for LC M
shareholders .
 
We are wel l  advanced on refinancing our debt faci l i ty with the objec(ve of increas ing the s ize and lowering the cost. We
wi l l  provide an update to the market at the appropriate time.
 
Key Performance Indicators
We have changed our Key Performance I ndicators  this  year to be8er reflect what management is  focused on as  we drive the
business .
 
The updated K P I s  are chosen to reflect our focus  on growing commi8ed capital  (new commitments  in the period and
cumula(ve commi8ed capital  at the period end); growing invested capital  (invested capital  in the period and cumula(ve
invested capital  at the period end); and del ivering strong investment performance via  our cumula(ve long-term M O I C.
Furthermore, given the importance of our trans i(on to the asset management model , external  funds  under management
remains  a  KPI.
 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
For the period ended 30 June 2024

Consolidated
 2024 2023
 Note '000 '000
 

Income  
 Gain on financial  assets  at fa i r value through profi t or
loss 5 86,926 184,735
 Movement in financial  l iabi l i ties  related to third-party
interests  in consol idated enti ties 5 (48,382) (111,953)
 Li tigation service revenue 5 12,443 -
 Total income  50,987 72,782



 Li tigation service expense (3,236) -
 Gross profit  47,752 72,782

 Expenses  
 Employee benefi ts  expense 6 (11,471) (9,474)
 Depreciation expense 6 (145) (166)
 Corporate expenses (5,171) (4,220)
 Fund administration expense 6 (3,400) (3,010)
 Foreign currency gains/(losses) (1,432) (5,081)
 Total  operating expenses (21,619) (21,951)
Operating profit  26,133 50,831
 Finance costs 6 (10,083) (8,090)
Profit before income tax expense 16,050 42,741
 Income tax expense 7 (3,335) (11,256)
Profit after income tax expense 12,715 31,485

 
Other comprehensive income  
Items that may be subsequently reclass i fied to profi t and loss :
 Movement in foreign currency trans lation reserve 2,013 2,187
Total comprehensive income for the period 14,728 33,672

 
Profi t for the period is  attributable to:
Owners  of Li tigation Capital  Management Limited 12,715 31,485

12,715 31,485
 

Total  comprehensive income for the period is  attributable to:
Owners  of Li tigation Capital  Management Limited 14,728 33,672

14,728 33,672
 

Cents Cents
 

Basic earnings  per share 8 12.01 29.53
Di luted earnings  per share 8 11.33 28.33
 
The above Consolidated Statement of P rofit or Loss and O ther Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunc on with
accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements.

Consolidated statement of financial position
For the period ended 30 June 2024

30-Jun-24 30-Jun-23
 Note '000 '000
 

Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents 10 68,113 104,457
Trade receivables 11 10,986 2,063
Due from resolution of financial  assets 12 3,980 11,873
Contract costs 13 42,072 37,277
Financial  assets  at fa i r value through profi t or loss   14 465,213 391,410
Property, plant and equipment 157 211
Intangible assets 305 356
Other assets 977 1,256
Total assets  591,803 548,903
 

Liabilities  
Trade and other payables 15 30,376 7,535
Tax payable 883 7,769
Employee benefi ts 1,112 906
Borrowings 16 61,917 68,976
Financial  l iabi l i ties  related to third-party interests  in
consol idated enti ties 17 264,950 243,990
Deferred tax l iabi l i ty 7 43,624 36,259
Total liabilities  402,862 365,435
Net assets  188,941 183,468
 
Equity  
Issued capital 18 69,674 69,674
Treasury shares 18 (5,396) -
Reserves 4,171 1,042
Retained earnings 120,492 112,753
Parent interest 188,941 183,468
Total equity  188,941 183,468
 
The above Consolidated Statement of F inancial Posi on should be read in conjunc on with accompanying Notes to the



The above Consolidated Statement of F inancial Posi on should be read in conjunc on with accompanying Notes to the
Financial Statements.
 
 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the period ended 30 June 2024               

Share
based Foreign  

Issued Treasury Retained payments currency Total
 capital shares earnings reserve translation equity

Consolidated '000 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000
Balance at 1 July 2022 (restated) 69,674 - 81,268 1,573 (3,585) 148,930
 
Profi t after income tax expense for
the period - - 31,485 - - 31,485
Other comprehensive income for the
period - - - - 2,187 2,187
Total comprehensive income for the
period - - 31,485 - 2,187 33,672
 
Equity Transactions:  
Share-based payments  (note 29) - - - 867 - 867

  - 867 - 867
 
Balance at 30 June 2023 69,674 - 112,753 2,440 (1,398) 183,468
 

Share
based Foreign  

Issued Treasury Retained payments currency Total
 capital shares earnings reserve translation equity

Consolidated '000 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000
Balance at 1 July 2023 69,674 - 112,753 2,440 (1,398) 183,469

Profi t after income tax expense for
the period - - 12,715 - - 12,715
Other comprehensive income for the
period - - - - 2,013 2,013
Total comprehensive income for the
period - - 12,715 - 2,013 14,728
 
Equity Transactions:  
Share-based payments  (note 29) - - - 1,116 - 1,116
Dividends paid (note 20) - - (4,976) - - (4,976)
Treasury shares  acquired (note 18) - (5,396) - - - (5,396)

- (5,396) (4,976) 1,116 - (9,256)
 
Balance at 30 June 2024 69,674 (5,396) 120,492 3,556 615 188,941
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunc on with accompanying Notes to the
Financial Statements.
 

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the period ended 30 June 2024               

Consolidated
 2024 2023
 Note '000 '000
 

Cash flows from operating activities  
Proceeds from l i tigation contracts 116,636 192,563
Payments  for l i tigation contracts (78,265) (94,543)
Payments  to suppl iers  and employees (16,337) (13,434)
Income tax paid (2,830) -
Net cash from operating activities 9 19,203 84,587

Cash flows from investing activities  
Payments  for property, plant and equipment (31) (90)
Payments  for intangibles (9) (57)
Refund/(payment) of securi ty deposits 8 (51)
Net cash used in investing activities (31) (198)

Cash flows from financing activities  
Payments  for treasury shares 18 (5,396) -
Dividends paid 20 (4,976) -
Proceeds from borrowings 16 - 9,636
Repayments  of borrowings 16 (8,139) (14,848)
Payments  of finance costs (8,960) (6,171)



Payments  of finance costs (8,960) (6,171)
Payments  of placement fees  related to third-party interests (2,206) (1,832)
Contributions  from third-party interests  in
consol idated enti ties 17 30,505 74,980
Distributions  to third-party interests  in
consol idated enti ties 17 (56,407) (94,373)
Net cash (used in) financing activities (55,578) (32,608)
 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (36,405) 51,781
Cash and cash equivalents  at the beginning of the period 104,457 49,964
Effects  of exchange rate changes  on cash and cash
equivalents 61 2,712
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 10 68,113 104,457
 
1 The Group changed i ts  cash flow presenta(on from indirect method to direct method to be in l ine with market prac(ce
and in accordance with how management from the Group reviews the cashflows of opera(ons. The compara(ve
information for the year ended 30 June 2023 has  been restated to reflect the change in the cash flow presentation.
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunc on with accompanying Notes to the F inancial
Statements.
 
 

Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2024
 
Note 1. General information
 
The financial  s tatements  cover Li(ga(on Capital  Management Limited (the 'Company') as  a  Group cons is(ng of Li(ga(on
Capital  Management Limited and the en((es i t control led at the end of, or during, the year (referred to as  the 'Group'). The
financial  s tatements  are presented in Austral ian dol lars , which is  Li(ga(on Capital  Management Limited's  func(onal  and
presentation currency.
 
Li tigation Capital  Management Limited was admitted onto the Alternative Investment Market ('AIM') on 19 December 2018.
 
Li(ga(on Capital  Management Limited is  a  l i s ted publ ic company l imited by shares , incorporated and domici led in
Austral ia . Its  registered office and principal  place of bus iness  is :
 
Level  12, The Chi fley Tower
2 Chi fley Square
Sydney NSW 2000
 
A description of the nature of the Group's  operations  and i ts  principal  activi ties  are included in the Directors ' report, which
is  not part of the financial  s tatements .
 
The financial  s tatements  were authorised for i ssue, in accordance with a  resolu(on of Directors , on 17 September 2024.
The Directors  have the power to amend and reissue the financial  s tatements .
 
Basis of preparation
The Financial  Report:
 

· has been prepared in accordance with the Austral ian Accoun(ng Standards  adopted by the Austral ian Accoun(ng
Standards  Board (AAS B) and I nterna(onal  F inancial  Repor(ng Standards  (I F RSs) as  i ssued by the I nterna(onal
Accounting Standards  Board (IASB);

· has been prepared in accordance with the requirements  of the Corporations  Act 2001 (Cth);

· i s  presented in Austral ian dol lars , which is  the Group's  func(onal  and presenta(on currency, with a l l  values  rounded
to the nearest thousand dol lars , or in certain cases  to the nearest dol lar, in accordance with AS I C  Corpora(ons
Instrument 2016/191 unless  otherwise indicated;

· includes  foreign currency transac(ons that are trans lated into the func(onal  currency, us ing the exchange rates
prevai l ing at the date of the Financial  Report;

· has been prepared on a going concern bas is  us ing a  historical  cost bas is , except for certain assets  and l iabi l i(es
measured at fa i r value;

· presents  assets  and l iabi l i ties  on the face of the Balance Sheets  in decreas ing order of l iquidity;

· where required, presents  restated compara(ve informa(on for cons istency with the current year's  presenta(on in the
Financial  Report; and

· contains  accounting pol icies  that have been cons istently appl ied to a l l  periods  presented, unless  otherwise stated.

 
Principles of consolidation
The consol idated financial  s tatements  incorporate the assets  and l iabi l i(es  of a l l  subs idiaries  of Li(ga(on Capital
Management Limited ('Company' or 'parent en(ty') as  at 30 June 2024 and the results  of a l l  subs idiaries  for the year then
ended. Li(ga(on Capital  Management Limited and i ts  subs idiaries  together are referred to in these financial  s tatements  as
the 'Group'.
 
The Group includes  fund investment vehicles  over which the Group has  the right to direct the relevant ac(vi(es  of the fund
under contractual  arrangements  and has  exposure to variable returns  from the fund investment vehicles . See note 4.
 
Subs idiaries  are a l l  those en((es over which the Group has  control . The Group controls  an en(ty when the Group is
exposed to, or has  rights  to, variable returns  from i ts  involvement with the en(ty and has  the abi l i ty to affect those returns
through i ts  power to direct the ac(vi(es  of the en(ty. Subs idiaries  are ful ly consol idated from the date on which control  i s
transferred to the Group. They are de-consol idated from the date that control  ceases.
 
I ntercompany transac(ons, balances  and unreal ised gains  on transac(ons between en((es in the Group are el iminated.
Unreal ised losses  are a lso el iminated unless  the transac(on provides  evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred.
Accoun(ng pol icies  of subs idiaries  have been changed where necessary to ensure cons istency with the pol icies  adopted by
the Group.
 



 
Note 2. Material accounting policies
 
New and amended accounting standards and interpretations adopted during the year
The accoun(ng pol icies  adopted are cons istent with those fol lowed in the prepara(on of the Group's  annual  consol idated
financial  s tatements  for the year ended 30 June 2023.
 
The Group has  appl ied the Amendments  to I AS 1, I F RS P rac(ce Statement 2 - D isclosure of Accoun(ng Pol icies  for the first
(me for i ts  annual  repor(ng period commencing 1 July 2023. The amendment did not have any impact on the amounts
recognised in prior periods  and are not expected to s igni ficantly affect the current or future periods.
 
New and amended accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective
The new and amended standards  and interpreta(ons that are issued, but not yet effec(ve, up to the date of i ssuance of the
Group's  financial  s tatements  that the Group reasonably expects  wi l l  have an impact on i ts  disclosures , financial  pos i(on
or performance when appl ied at a  future date, are disclosed below.
 

· Amendment to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 - Class i fication and Measurement of Financial  Instruments .

· IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial  Statements .

· IFRS 19 Subs idiaries  without Publ ic Accountabi l i ty: Disclosures.

· IFRS S1, 'General  requirements  for disclosure of sustainabi l i ty-related financial  information.

 
The Group intends to adopt these new and amended standards  and interpreta(ons, i f appl icable, when they become
effec(ve. The Group has  not l i s ted other standards  and interpreta(ons which are issued but not yet effec(ve, as  they are
not expected to impact the Group.
 
Operating segments
O pera(ng segments  are presented us ing the 'management approach', where the informa(on presented is  on the same bas is
as  the internal  reports  provided to the Chief O pera(ng Decis ion Makers  ('CO D M'). The CO D M is  responsible for the
al location of resources  to operating segments  and assess ing their performance.
 
Foreign currency translation
The financial  s tatements  are presented in Austral ian dol lars , which is  Li(ga(on Capital  Management Limited's  func(onal
and presentation currency.
 
Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transac(ons are trans lated into the en(ty's  func(onal  currency us ing the exchange rates  prevai l ing at the
dates  of the transac(ons. Foreign exchange gains  and losses  resul(ng from the se8lement of such transac(ons and from
the trans la(on at financial  year-end exchange rates  of monetary assets  and l iabi l i(es  denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in profi t or loss .
 
Foreign operations
The assets  and l iabi l i(es  of foreign opera(ons are trans lated into Austral ian dol lars  us ing the exchange rates  at the
repor(ng date. The revenues and expenses  of foreign opera(ons are trans lated into Austral ian dol lars  us ing the average
exchange rates , which approximate the rates  at the dates  of the transac(ons, for the period. Al l  resul(ng foreign exchange
differences  are recognised in other comprehensive income through the foreign currency reserve in equity.
 
The foreign currency reserve is  recognised in profi t or loss  when the foreign operation or net investment is  disposed of.
Fair value measurement
The Group measures  i ts  financial  instruments  such as  l i(ga(on funding agreements  and financial  l iabi l i(es  related to
third-party interests  at fa i r value at each balance sheet date.
 
W hen an asset or l iabi l i ty, financial  or non-financial , i s  measured at fa i r value for recogni(on or disclosure purposes, the
fair value is  based on the price that would be received to sel l  an asset or paid to transfer a  l iabi l i ty in an orderly
transac(on between market par(cipants  at the measurement date; and assumes that the transac(on wi l l  take place ei ther:
in the principal  market; or in the absence of a  principal  market, in the most advantageous market.
 
Fair value is  measured us ing the assump(ons that market par(cipants  would use when pricing the asset or l iabi l i ty,
assuming they act in their economic best interests . For non-financial  assets , the fa ir value measurement is  based on i ts
highest and best use. Valua(on techniques  that are appropriate in the ci rcumstances  and for which sufficient data are
avai lable to measure fa ir value, are used, maximis ing the use of relevant observable inputs  and minimis ing the use of
unobservable inputs .
 
The Group uses  valua(on techniques  that are appropriate in the ci rcumstances  and for which sufficient data is  avai lable
to measure fa ir value, maximis ing the use of relevant observable inputs  and minimis ing the use of unobservable inputs .
 
Al l  assets  and l iabi l i(es  for which fa ir value is  measured or disclosed in the financial  s tatements  are categorised within
the fa ir value hierarchy, described as  fol lows, based on the lowest level  input that i s  s ignificant to the fa ir value
measurement as  a  whole:
 

· Level  1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices  in active markets  for identical  assets  or l iabi l i ties

· Level  2 - Valua(on techniques  for which the lowest level  input that i s  s ignificant to the fa ir value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable

· Level  3 - Valua(on techniques  for which the lowest level  input that i s  s ignificant to the fa ir value measurement is
unobservable

 
For assets  and l iabi l i(es  that are recognised in the financial  s tatements  at fa i r value on a recurring bas is , the Group
determines  whether transfers  have occurred between levels  in the hierarchy by re-assess ing categorisa(on (based on the
lowest level  input that i s  s igni ficant to the fa ir value measurement as  a  whole) at the end of each reporting period.       
The Group's  Execu(ve Leadership Commi8ee determines  the pol icies  and procedures  for fa i r value measurement, including
the l i(ga(on funding agreements . The Commi8ee is  comprised of the Chief Execu(ve O fficer, Chief F inancial  O fficer and
Head of Investments  or equivalent.
 
The level  of involvement of external  valuers  or specia l is t valua(on experts  i s  determined annual ly by the Commi8ee aPer
discuss ion with and approval  by the Company's  Audit Commi8ee. Selec(on cri teria  include market knowledge, reputa(on,
independence and whether profess ional  standards  are maintained.
 



 
At each repor(ng date, the Commi8ee analyses  the movements  in the values  of assets  and l iabi l i(es  which are required to
be remeasured or re-assessed as  per the Group's  accoun(ng pol icies . For this  analys is , the Commi8ee verifies  the major
inputs  appl ied in the latest valua(on by agreeing the informa(on in the valua(on computa(on to contracts  and other
relevant documents .
 
The Commi8ee also compares  the change in the fa ir value of each asset and l iabi l i ty with any relevant external  sources  to
determine whether the change is  reasonable.
 
Fair-value related disclosures  for financial  instruments  and non-financial  assets  that are measured at fa i r value or where
fair values  are disclosed, are summarised in the fol lowing notes:
 

· Disclosures  for valuation methods, s igni ficant estimates  and assumptions  Note 22

· Quantitative disclosures  of fa i r value measurement hierarchy Note 22

· Financial  instruments  Note 21

Revenue recognition
The Group recognises  revenue as  fol lows:
 
Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is  recognised at an amount that reflects  the cons idera(on to which the Group is  expected to be en(tled in
exchange for transferring services  to a  customer. For each contract with a  customer, the Group: iden(fies the contract with
a customer; iden(fies the performance obl iga(ons in the contract; determines  the transac(on price which takes  into
account es(mates  of variable cons idera(on and the (me value of money; a l locates  the transac(on price to the separate
performance obl iga(ons on the bas is  of the rela(ve stand-alone sel l ing price of each dis(nct service to be del ivered; and
recognises  revenue when or as  each performance obl iga(on is  sa(sfied in a  manner that depicts  the transfer to the
customer of the services  promised.
 
Variable cons idera(on within the transac(on price, i f any, reflects  the variabi l i ty of poten(al  outcomes in awards  or
se8lements  of the l i(ga(on and any other con(ngent events . Such es(mates  are determined us ing ei ther the 'expected
value' or 'most l ikely amount' method. The measurement of variable cons idera(on is  subject to a  constraining principle
whereby revenue wi l l  only be recognised to the extent that i t i s  highly probable that a  s ignificant reversal  in the amount of
cumula(ve revenue recognised wi l l  not occur. The measurement constraint con(nues un(l  the uncertainty associated with
the variable cons idera(on is  subsequently resolved. Amounts  received that are subject to the constraining principle are
recognised as  a  refund l iabi l i ty.
 
Litigation service revenue
The performance of a  l i(ga(on service contract by the Group entai ls  the management and progress ion of the l i(ga(on
project during which costs  are incurred by the Group over the l i fe of the l i tigation project.
 
As  cons idera(on for providing l i(ga(on management services  and financing of l i(ga(on projects , the Group receives
either a  percentage of the gross  proceeds of any award or se8lement of the l i(ga(on, or a  mul(ple of capital  deployed, and
is  reimbursed for a l l  invested capital .
 
Revenue, which includes  amounts  in excess  of costs  incurred and the reimbursement for a l l  invested capital , i s  not
recognised as  revenue un(l  the successful  comple(on of the l i(ga(on project ie, complete sa(sfac(on of the performance
obl iga(on, which is  general ly at the point in (me when a judgment has  been awarded or on an agreed se8lement between
the par(es  to the l i(ga(on, and therefore when the outcome is  cons idered highly probable. O n this  bas is , revenue is  not
recognised over (me and instead recognised at the point in (me when the Group sa(sfies  the performance obl iga(on.
Costs  include only external  costs  of funding the l i tigation, such as  sol ici tors ' fees , counsels ' fees  and experts ' fees .
 
The terms and dura(on of each se8lement or judgment varies  by l i(ga(on project. Payment terms are not defined by the
Group's  l i(ga(on contracts  however upon successful  comple(on of a  l i(ga(on project, being the sa(sfac(on of the s ingle
performance obl iga(on, funds  are general ly paid into trust within 28 days. The funds  wi l l  remain in trust un(l  the
distribu(on amounts  have been determined and agreed by the relevant par(es, aPer which payment wi l l  be received by the
Group.
 
Income tax
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is  the tax payable on that period's  taxable income based on the appl icable
income tax rate for each jurisdic(on, adjusted by the changes  in deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i(es  a8ributable to
temporary di fferences, unused tax losses  and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where appl icable.
 
Deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i(es  are recognised for temporary differences  at the tax rates  expected to be appl ied when the
assets  are recovered or l iabi l i(es  are se8led, based on those tax rates  that are enacted or substan(vely enacted, except
for:
 

· W hen the deferred income tax asset or l iabi l i ty arises  from the ini(al  recogni(on of goodwi l l  or an asset or l iabi l i ty in
a transac(on that i s  not a  bus iness  combina(on and that, at the (me of the transac(on, affects  neither the accoun(ng
nor taxable profi ts ; or

· W hen the taxable temporary difference is  associated with interests  in subs idiaries , associates  or joint ventures , and
the (ming of the reversal  can be control led and i t i s  probable that the temporary difference wi l l  not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

 
Deferred tax assets  are recognised for deduc(ble temporary differences  and unused tax losses  only i f i t i s  probable that
future taxable amounts  wi l l  be avai lable to uti l i se those temporary di fferences  and losses .
 
The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets  are reviewed at each repor(ng date. Deferred tax
assets  recognised are reduced to the extent that i t i s  no longer probable that future taxable profits  wi l l  be avai lable for the
carrying amount to be recovered. P revious ly unrecognised deferred tax assets  are recognised to the extent that i t i s
probable that there are future taxable profi ts  avai lable to recover the asset.
 
Deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i(es  are offset only where there is  a  legal ly enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax l iabi l i(es  and deferred tax assets  against deferred tax l iabi l i(es; and they relate to the same taxable
authori ty on ei ther the same taxable enti ty or di fferent taxable enti ties  which intend to settle s imultaneously.
 
Li(ga(on Capital  Management Limited (the 'head en(ty') and i ts  whol ly-owned Austral ian subs idiaries  have formed an
income tax consol idated group under the tax consol ida(on regime. The head en(ty and each subs idiary in the tax



income tax consol idated group under the tax consol ida(on regime. The head en(ty and each subs idiary in the tax
consol idated group con(nue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts . The tax consol idated group has
appl ied the 'separate taxpayer within group' approach in determining the appropriate amount of taxes  to a l locate to
members  of the tax consol idated group.
 
I n addi(on to i ts  own current and deferred tax amounts , the head en(ty a lso recognises  the current tax l iabi l i(es  (or
assets) and the deferred tax assets  aris ing from unused tax losses  and unused tax credits  assumed from each subs idiary in
the tax consol idated group.
 
Assets  or l iabi l i(es  aris ing under tax funding agreements  with the tax consol idated en((es are recognised as  amounts
receivable from or payable to other en((es in the tax consol idated group. The tax funding arrangement ensures  that the
intercompany charge equals  the current tax l iabi l i ty or benefit of each tax consol idated group member, resul(ng in neither
a contribution by the head enti ty to the subs idiaries  nor a  distribution by the subs idiaries  to the head enti ty.
 
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents  includes  cash on hand, deposits  held at cal l  with financial  ins(tu(ons, other short-term, highly
l iquid investments  with original  maturi(es  of three months  or less  that are readi ly conver(ble to known amounts  of cash
and which are subject to an ins igni ficant risk of changes  in value.
 
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables  are ini(al ly recognised at fa i r value and subsequently measured at amor(sed cost us ing the effec(ve
interest method, less  any al lowance for expected credit losses . Trade receivables  general ly do not have a specifical ly
defined (me frame for se8lement, addi(onal ly, when the receivable is  due from part of the por>ol io of l i(ga(on projects ,
the se8lement of the receivable is  general ly made upon an addi(onal  resolu(on of another l i(ga(on project within the
portfol io which also may not be within a  speci fical ly defined time frame.
 
The Group has  appl ied the s impl ified approach to measuring expected credit losses  for trade receivables  and contract
assets , which uses  a  l i fe(me expected loss  a l lowance. To measure the expected credit losses , trade receivables  have been
grouped based on days  overdue.
 
Due from resolution of financial assets
Amounts  due from the se8lement of financial  assets  relate to the real isa(on of l i(ga(on funding assets  that have been
successful ly concluded and where there is  no longer any l i(ga(on risk remaining and represent the expected cash flow to
be received by the Group. The se8lement terms and (ming of real isa(ons vary by l i(ga(on funding asset. The majori ty of
se8lement balances  are received shortly aPer the period end in which the l i(ga(on funding asset has  concluded, and al l
settlement balances  are general ly expected to be received within 12 months  after completion.
 
Contract costs
Contract costs  are recognised as  an asset when the Group incurs  costs  in fulfil l ing a  contract and when al l  the fol lowing
are met: (i ) the costs  relate directly to the contract; (i i ) the costs  generate or enhance resources  of the Group that wi l l  be
used to sa(sfy future performance obl iga(ons; and (i i i ) the costs  are expected to be recovered. Contract costs  are financial
assets  for impairment purposes. Refer to the Group's  revenue recognition pol icy for further information.
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial  assets  are recognised at fa i r value through profit or loss  and are fa ir valued us ing an income approach.
Financial  assets  at fa i r value through profit or loss  are carried in the statement of financial  pos i(on at fa i r value with net
changes  in fa i r value recognised in the statement of profit or loss . This  category includes  the Group's  l i(ga(on funding
assets . The l i(ga(on funding assets  are primari ly derecognised when the underlying l i(ga(on resolves  and transfers  to
Due from resolution of financial  assets .
 
F inancial  assets  are derecognised when the contractual  rights  to the cash flows expire or when the asset, a long with the
associated risks  and rewards  of ownership, are substantia l ly transferred to another enti ty.
 
Financial liabilities related to third-party interests in consolidated entities
Non-control l ing interests  where the Group does  not own 100% of a  consol idated en(ty are recorded as  financial  l iabi l i(es
related to third-party interests  in consol idated en((es. F inancial  l iabi l i(es  related to third-party interests  in consol idated
en((es are ini(al ly recognised at the fa ir value. Gains  or losses  on l iabi l i(es  held at fa i r value through profit or loss  are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss  as  'Movement in financial  l iabi l i(es  related to third-party interests  in
consol idated en((es'. They are subsequently measured at fa i r value us ing an income approach. Amounts  included in the
consol idated statement of financial  pos i(on represent the net asset value of the third-par(es ' interests . These amounts
have been elected to be measured at fa i r value to reduce the accoun(ng mismatch between the related financial  asset
measured at fa i r value through profi t or loss .
 
Financial  l iabi l i ties  are derecognised when the obl igation to settle through cash flows has  expired or been transferred.
 
Impairment of non-financial assets
Non-financial  assets  are reviewed for impairment at each repor(ng date and whenever events  or changes  in ci rcumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss  i s  recognised for the amount by which the
asset's  carrying amount exceeds i ts  recoverable amount.
 
Recoverable amount is  the higher of an asset's  fa i r value less  costs  of disposal  and value-in-use. The value-in-use is  the
present value of the es(mated future cash flows rela(ng to the asset us ing a  pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or
cash-genera(ng unit to which the asset belongs. Assets  that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to
form a cash-generating unit.
 
Trade and other payables
These amounts  represent l iabi l i(es  for goods and services  provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial  year and
which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amor(sed cost and are not discounted. The amounts
are unsecured and are usual ly paid within 30 days  of recognition.
 
Borrowings
Borrowings  are ini(al ly recognised at fa i r value net of transac(on costs  incurred. Subsequent to ini(al  recogni(on,
borrowings  are stated at amortised cost.
 
Net finance costs
Net finance costs  comprise interest income from the investment of excess  funds  in short-term, highly l iquid investments ,
and interest expense and borrowing costs  related to the borrowing of funds.
 



 
Employee benefits
 
Short-term employee benefits
Liabi l i(es  for wages  and salaries , including non-monetary benefits , annual  leave and long service leave expected to be
se8led whol ly within 12 months  of the repor(ng date are measured at the amounts  expected to be paid when the l iabi l i(es
are settled.
 
Other long-term employee benefits
The l iabi l i ty for annual  leave and long service leave not expected to be se8led within 12 months  of the repor(ng date are
measured at the present value of expected future payments  to be made in respect of services  provided by employees  up to
the reporting date. Consideration is  given to expected future wage and salary levels , experience of employee departures  and
periods  of service. Expected future payments  are discounted us ing market yields  at the repor(ng date on high qual i ty
corporate bonds with terms to maturi ty and currency that match, as  closely as  poss ible, the es(mated future cash
outflows.
 
Defined contribution superannuation expense
Contributions  to defined contribution superannuation plans  are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
 
Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based compensation benefi ts  are provided to employees.
 
Equity-se8led transac(ons are awards  of shares , or op(ons over shares , that are provided to employees  in exchange for
the rendering of services .
 
The cost of equity-se8led transac(ons are measured at fa i r value on grant date. Fair value is  determined us ing ei ther the
Monte Carlo or Black-Scholes  op(on pricing model  that takes  into account the exercise price, the term of the op(on, the
impact of di lu(on, the share price at grant date and expected price vola(l i ty of the underlying share, the expected dividend
yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the op(on, together with non-ves(ng condi(ons that do not determine
whether the Group receives  the services  that en(tle the employees  to receive payment. No account is  taken of any other
vesting conditions.
 
The cost of equity-se8led transac(ons are recognised as  an expense with a  corresponding increase in equity over the
ves(ng period. The cumula(ve charge to profit or loss  i s  calculated based on the grant date fa ir value of the award, the
best es(mate of the number of awards  that are l ikely to vest and the expired por(on of the ves(ng period. The amount
recognised in profit or loss  for the period is  the cumula(ve amount calculated at each repor(ng date less  amounts  a lready
recognised in previous  periods.
 
Market condi(ons are taken into cons idera(on in determining fa ir value. Therefore any awards  subject to market
condi(ons are cons idered to vest i rrespec(ve of whether or not that market condi(on has  been met, provided al l  other
conditions  are satis fied.
 
I f equity-se8led awards  are modified, as  a  minimum an expense is  recognised as  i f the modifica(on has  not been made. An
addi(onal  expense is  recognised, over the remaining ves(ng period, for any modifica(on that increases  the total  fa i r value
of the share-based compensation benefi t as  at the date of modification.
 
I f the non-ves(ng condi(on is  within the control  of the Group or employee, the fa i lure to sa(sfy the condi(on is  treated as
a cancel la(on. I f the condi(on is  not within the control  of the Group or employee and is  not sa(sfied during the ves(ng
period, any remaining expense for the award is  recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless  the award is  forfei ted.
 
I f equity-se8led awards  are cancel led, i t i s  treated as  i f i t has  vested on the date of cancel la(on, and any remaining
expense is  recognised immediately. I f a  new replacement award is  subs(tuted for the cancel led award, the cancel led and
new award is  treated as  i f they were a modification.        
 
Issued capital
O rdinary shares  are class ified as  equity. I ncremental  costs  directly a8ributable to the issue of new shares  or op(ons are
shown in equity as  a  deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
 
Treasury shares
W here Group purchase shares  in the l i s ted Company, the cons idera(on paid is  deducted from issued capital  and the
shares  are treated as  treasury shares  un(l  they are subsequently sold, reissued or cancel led. W here such shares  are sold
or reissued, any cons ideration received is  included in shareholders ' equity.
 
Dividends
Dividends are recognised when declared during the financial  year and no longer at the discretion of the Company.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings  per share is  calculated by dividing the profit a8ributable to the owners  of Li(ga(on Capital  Management
Limited, excluding any costs  of servicing equity other than ordinary shares , by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares  outstanding during the financial  year, adjusted for bonus elements  in ordinary shares  issued during the financial
year.
 
Diluted earnings per share
Di luted earnings  per share adjusts  the figures  used in the determina(on of bas ic earnings  per share to take into account
the aPer income tax effect of interest and other financing costs  associated with di lu(ve poten(al  ordinary shares  and the
weighted average number of shares  assumed to have been issued for no cons idera(on in rela(on to di lu(ve poten(al
ordinary shares.
 
Note 3. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
 
The prepara(on of the financial  s tatements  requires  management to make judgements , es(mates  and assump(ons that
affect the reported amounts  in the financial  s tatements . Management con(nual ly evaluates  i ts  judgements  and es(mates
in rela(on to assets , l iabi l i(es , con(ngent l iabi l i(es , revenue and expenses. Management bases  i ts  judgements , es(mates
and assump(ons on historical  experience and on other various  factors , including expecta(ons of future events ,
management bel ieves  to be reasonable under the ci rcumstances. The resul(ng accoun(ng judgements  and es(mates  wi l l
seldom equal  the related actual  results . The judgements , es(mates  and assump(ons that have a s ignificant risk of caus ing
a materia l  adjustment to the carrying amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i(es  (refer to the respec(ve notes) within the next



a materia l  adjustment to the carrying amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i(es  (refer to the respec(ve notes) within the next
financial  year are discussed below.
 
Key judgements
 
Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds less than 100% of interests
The Group has  assessed the en((es in which i t has  an interest to determine whether or not control  exists  and the en(ty is ,
therefore, consol idated into the Group (refer note 4). W here the Group does  not own 100% of interests , the Group makes
judgements  to determine whether to consol idate the en(ty in ques(on by applying the factors  set forth in AAS B 10,
including but not l imited to the Group's  equity and economic ownership interest, the economic structures  in use in the
en(ty, the level  of control  the Group has  over the en(ty through the en(ty's  structure or any relevant contractual
agreements , and the rights  of other investors .
 
Signi ficant estimates  and assumptions
 
Net gains/(losses) on financial assets & liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
The Group carries  i ts  financial  assets  and l iabi l i(es  at fa i r value, with changes  in fa i r value being recognised in the
statement of profi t or loss . A valuation methodology based on an income approach
 
The fa ir values  of these financial  assets  and l iabi l i(es  cannot be measured based on quoted prices  in ac(ve markets , and
as  a  result a  fa i r value methodology is  u(l ised. The measurement valua(on technique includes  a  discounted cash flow
(D C F) model  based on the Group's  es(mated, risk adjusted future cash flows. The adopted discount rate reflects  the funding
cost of deploying capital , and is  intended to capture the (me value of money and market factors  such as  interest rates  and
foreign exchange rates .
 
The fa ir value framework incorporates  assump(ons, including the discount rate, the (ming and amount of expected cash
inflows and addi(onal  funding, and a risk-adjustment factor reflec(ng the inherent uncertainty in the cash flows due to
l i tigation risk, which is  dependent on observable case progress ion and mi lestones.
 
The inputs  to these models  are taken from observable markets  where poss ible, but where this  i s  not feas ible, a  degree of
judgement is  required in establ ishing fa ir values. Judgements  include cons idera(ons of inputs  such as  case progress ,
credit risk and vola(l i ty. Changes  in assump(ons rela(ng to these factors  could affect the reported fa ir value of financial
instruments .
 
The key assump(ons used to determine the fa ir value of the l i(ga(on funding agreements , financial  l iabi l i(es  related to
third-party interests  in consol idated enti ties  and sens itivi ty analyses  are provided in note 22.
 
Note 4. Segment information
 
For management purposes, the Group is  organised into two opera(ng segments  compris ing the opera(ons of Li(ga(on
Capital  Management Limited and i ts  whol ly owned subs idiaries  ("LCM") and the Group's  fund structures  ("Fund").
 
LCM
The LC M column includes  the 25% co-investment in the Funds, Balance Sheet investments  (ie, 100% investment by LC M) and
corporate operations.
 
Fund I & II
This  comprises  LC M Global  Alterna(ve Returns  Fund and LC M Global  Alterna(ve Returns  Fund I I  and their en((es as
disclosed in note 25. AAS B 10 Consol idated Financial  Statements  requires  the Group to consol idate fund investment
vehicles  over which i t has  exposure to variable returns  from the fund investment vehicles . As  a  result, third party interests
in rela(on to the Funds have been consol idated in the financial  s tatements . The Fund column includes  the 75% co-
investment in the l i tigation funding assets  and costs  of administering the funds.
 
Intersegment revenue
The third-party interests  in the Funds carry an en(tlement to receive an 8% soP return hurdle. Upon sa(sfac(on of the
third-party interests  soP return hurdle, LC M is  en(tled to performance fees  as  fund manager on the bas is  of a  deal  by deal
waterfal l . The net res idual  cash flows are to be distributed 25% to LC M and 75% to the third-party interests  un(l  a  I R R of
20% is  achieved by the third-party interests , thereaPer the net res idual  cash flows are distributed 35% to LC M and 65% to
the third-party interests .
 
The fol lowing tables  reflect the impact of consol ida(ng the results  of the Funds with the results  for LC M to arrive at the
totals  reported in the consol idated statement of profit or loss  and other comprehensive income, consol idated statement of
financial  pos ition and consol idated statement of cash flows.
 
Effec(ve from 1 July 2023, the Group has  revised i ts  internal  segment repor(ng structure, resul(ng in a  change from one
reportable segment to two reportable segments . This  change aims to provide more relevant and transparent informa(on to
stakeholders . This  change al igns  with the way the Group's  chief opera(ng decis ion maker reviews financial  performance.
The compara(ve informa(on for the year ended 30 June 2023 has  been restated to reflect the new segment repor(ng
structure however was  a lso presented in note 26 of the FY23 Annual  Report.
 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
 

2024 2023

 Consolidated Fund LCM Consolidated Fund LCM

 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000

Income  
Gain on financial  assets  at fa i r value
through profi t or loss 86,926 51,416 35,511 184,735 117,051 67,684
Movement in financial  l iabi l i ties  related
to third-party interests  in consol idated
enti ties (48,382) (48,382) - (111,953) (111,953) -
Li tigation service revenue 12,443 - 12,443 - - -
Total income from litigation assets 50,987 3,033 47,954 72,782 5,098 67,684

Litigation service expense (3,236) - (3,236) - - -



Li tigation service expense (3,236) - (3,236) - - -
Gross profit 47,752 3,033 44,718 72,782 5,098 67,684

Expenses  
Employee benefi ts  expense (11,471) - (11,471) (9,474) - (9,474)
Depreciation expense (145) - (145) (166) - (166)
Corporate expenses (5,171) - (5,171) (4,220) - (4,220)
Fund administration expense (3,400) (1,220) (2,180) (3,010) (1,178) (1,832)
Foreign currency gains/(losses) (1,432) (1,968) 537 (5,081) (3,905) (1,176)
Total  operating expenses (21,619) (3,189) (18,430) (21,951) (5,083) (16,868)
Operating profit 26,133 (155) 26,288 50,831 15 50,816
Finance costs (10,083) 155 (10,238) (8,090) (15) (8,075)
Profit before income tax expense 16,050 - 16,050 42,741 - 42,741
Income tax expense (3,335) - (3,335) (11,256) - (11,256)
Profit after income tax expense 12,715 - 12,715 31,485 - 31,485

 
Other comprehensive income for the
period, net of tax 2,013 - 2,013 2,187 - 2,187
Total comprehensive income for the
period 14,728 - 14,728 33,672 - 33,672
 

Consolidated statement of financial position
 

2024 2023
 Consolidated Fund LCM Consolidated Fund LCM

 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000
 

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 68,113 15,089 53,024 104,457 21,484  82,973
Trade & other receivables 10,986 - 10,986 2,063 -  2,063
Due from resolution of financial
assets 3,980 - 3,980 11,873 -  11,873
Contract costs 42,072 - 42,072 37,277 -  37,277
Financial  assets  at fa i r value through
profi t or loss   465,213 262,300 202,913 391,410 225,642  165,768
Property, plant and equipment 157 - 157 211 -  211
Intangible assets 305 - 305 356 - 356
Other assets 977 (22) 999 1,256 78  1,178
Total assets 591,803 277,367 314,436 548,903 247,204  301,699

 

Liabilities
Trade and other payables 30,376 12,417 17,959 7,535 3,214  4,321
Tax payable 883 - 883 7,769 -  7,769
Employee Benefi ts 1,112 - 1,112 906 -  906
Borrowings 61,917 - 61,917 68,976 -  68,976
Third-party interests  in consol idated
enti ties 264,950 264,950 - 243,990 243,990  -
Deferred tax l iabi l i ty 43,624 - 43,624 36,259 -  36,259
Total liabilities 402,862 277,367 125,494 365,435 247,204  118,231
Net assets 188,941 - 188,941 183,468 - 183,468

 
A financial  l iabi l i ty at fa i r value through the income statement is  recognised in the parent en(ty in rela(on to the
transac(ons entered into with certain Fund structures  to support the financing of LFAs. These arrangements  fa i l  the
derecognition principles  in IFRS 9 and represents  the net share of the overal l  LFA at fa i r value apportioned to the Funds.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
 

2024 2023

 Consolidated Fund LCM Consolidated Fund LCM

 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000
 

Proceeds from l i tigation contracts 116,636 59,864 56,771 192,563 95,807 96,756
Payments  for l i tigation contracts (78,265) (38,572) (39,693) (94,543) (58,293) (36,251)
Payments  to suppl iers  and employees (16,337) (1,572) (14,765) (13,434) (3,049) (10,385)
Income tax paid (2,830) - (2,830) - - -
Net cash from/(used in) operating
activities 19,203 19,720 (517) 84,587 34,465 50,121

-
Cash flows from investing activities -
Payments  for property, plant and



Payments  for property, plant and
equipment (31) - (31) (90) - (90)
Payments  for intangibles (9) - (9) (57) - (57)
Refund/(payment) of securi ty deposits 8 - 8 (51) - (51)
Net cash used in investing activities (31) - (31) (198) - (198)

Cash flows from financing activities  
Payments  for treasury shares (5,396) - (5,396) - - -
Dividends paid (4,976) - (4,976) - - -
Proceeds from borrowings - - - 9,636 9,636
Repayments  of borrowings (8,139) - (8,139) (14,848) (14,848) -
Payments  of finance costs (8,960) - (8,960) (6,171) (132) (6,039)
Payments  of placement fees  related to
third-party interests (2,206) - (2,206) (1,832) - (1,832)
Contributions  from third-party
interests  in consol idated enti ties 30,505 30,505 - 74,980 74,980 -
Distributions  to third-party interests
in consol idated enti ties (56,407) (56,407) - (94,373) (94,373) -
Net cash (used in)/from financing
activities (55,578) (25,901) (29,677) (32,608) (34,372) 1,766

 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents (36,405) (6,181) (30,224) 51,781 92 51,689
Cash and cash equivalents  at the
beginning of the period 104,457 21,484 82,973 49,964 20,711 29,253
Effects  of exchange rate changes  on
cash and cash equivalents 61 (214) 275 2,712 681 2,031
Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the period 68,113 15,089 53,024 104,457 21,484 82,973
 
Note 5. Income

 
Consolidated

 2024 2023
 '000 '000

Fair value through profit and loss
Real ised gains  on l i tigation assets 10,299 26,879
Real ised performance fees 12,735 24,598
Fair value adjustment during the period, net of previous ly recognised unreal ised
gains  transferred to real ised gains 11,600 11,134
Foreign exchange gains 877 5,073
Total  income from l i tigation assets  attributable to LCM 35,511 67,684
Gain on financial  assets  related to third-party interests  in consol idated enti ties 51,416 117,051

86,928 184,735
Loss  on financial  l iabi l i ties  related to third-party interests  in consol idated
enti ties (48,382) (111,953)
Total  income from l i tigation assets 38,544 72,782
 
Total  income from l i(ga(on assets  a8ributable to LC M represents  real ised and unreal ised gains  that relate to LC M's
funded propor(on of l i(ga(on contracts . The gain and loss  related to third party interests  in consol idated en((es
represents  real ised and unreal ised gains  and losses  that relate to third party funded propor(ons from LC M control led
en((es. Real ised gains  relate to amounts  where l i(ga(on risk has  concluded and amounts  are expected to be received by
LC M. Unreal ised gains  or losses  relate to the fa ir value movement of assets  and l iabi l i(es  associated with l i(ga(on
contracts .
 
Litigation service revenue
 
Litigation service revenue Consolidated

 2024 2023
 '000 '000

Major service lines  
Revenue attributable to LCM 12,443 -
Attributable to third party interests - -

12,443 -

Geographical regions  
Austral ia 12,443 -

12,443 -
 
Li(ga(on service revenue relates  to an individual  l i(ga(on asset which resolved during the period and had a contract
duration of more than 4 years .

Note 6. Profit before tax

 
Consolidated

 2024 2023
 '000 '000
 

Profi t before income tax expense includes  the fol lowing speci fic expenses:



Employee benefits expense  
Salaries  & wages 8,513 7,337
Non-Executive directors ' fees 457 393
Superannuation and pension 311 287
Share based payments  expense 1,116 867
Other employee benefi ts  & costs 1,074 590

11,471 9,474

Depreciation  
Plant and equipment 84 63
Intangible assets 60 103

145 166
Net finance costs
Net interest on borrowings 9,017 7,511
Net finance costs  of third-party interests (155) 144
Other finance costs 1,221 435

10,083 8,090

Fund administration expense  
General  administration expenses 1,220 970
Set-up expenses - 209
Placement fees 2,180 1,831

3,400 3,010

Leases  
Short-term lease payments 906 777

Note 7. Income tax expense
 

Consolidated
 2024 2023
 '000 '000

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate  
Profi t before income tax expense 16,050 42,741

At the Group's  statutory income tax rate of 30% (2023: 25%) 4,815 10,685

Tax effect amounts  which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable
income:

Foreign tax rate adjustments (2,385) (1,718)
Share-based payments 335 217
Other assessable income 139 143
Other non-deductible expenses 215 -
Unreal ised foreign exchange - -
Change in tax rate - 1,929
Adjustment in respect of income and deferred tax of previous  years 217 -

Income tax expense / (benefi t) 3,335 11,256
 

Consolidated
 2024 2023
 '000 '000
 

Current tax (4,030) 7,701
Deferred tax 7,365 3,555
Income tax expense / (benefi t) 3,335 11,256

Consolidated
 2024 2023
 '000 '000

Deferred tax asset/(l iabi l i ty)
Deferred tax asset/(l iabi l i ty) comprises  temporary di fferences  attributable to:

Tax losses - 14,197
Employee benefi ts 302 273
Accrued expenses 172 929
Expenditure deductible for income tax over time 1,706 -
Share based payments 464 -
Deductible funding on contract costs  and financial  assets (16,634) (23,374)
Fair value adjustments  to financial  assets (29,634) (28,284)
Deferred tax asset/(l iabi l i ty) (43,624) (36,259)

Movements:
Opening balance (36,259) (32,704)
Charged to profi t or loss (7,365) (3,555)
Clos ing balance (43,624) (36,259)



Clos ing balance (43,624) (36,259)
 
Note 8. Earnings per share
 

2024 2023
 '000 '000
 

Profi t after income tax 12,715  31,485
Profi t after income tax attributable to the owners  of Li tigation Capital
Management Limited 12,715  31,485

Number Number
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  used in calculating bas ic earnings
per share1 105,849,093 106,613,927
Adjustments  for calculation of di luted earnings  per share:

Amounts  uncal led on partly paid shares 1,301,770 1,252,018
Options  over ordinary shares 5,103,344 3,257,392

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  used in calculating di luted earnings
per share 112,254,207 111,123,337

1 Weighted average number of ordinary shares  on issue during the year, excludes  treasury shares  held

Cents Cents
Basic earnings  per share 12.01 29.53
Di luted earnings  per share 11.33 28.33
 
Di lu(ve poten(al  shares  which are con(ngently i ssuable are only included in the calcula(on of di luted earnings  per share
where the conditions  are met.
 
Note 9. Reconciliation of cash flows
 
Reconci l iation of profi t after income tax to net cash from operating activi ties :

2024 2023
 '000 '000

Profi t after income tax expense for the period 12,715 31,485

Adjustments  for:
Fair value adjustments  to financial  l iabi l i ties  related to third party interests 48,382 111,953
Finance costs  reclass i fied to financing activi ties 10,083 8,090
Fund costs  reclass i fied to financing activi ties 2,180 1,851
Depreciation and amortisation of intangibles 145 166
Share-based payments 1,116 867
Other, including foreign exchange rate movements 407 11,527

Change in operating assets  and l iabi l i ties :
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables (8,923) 89
Decrease/(increase) in due from resolution of financial  assets 7,893 12,468
Decrease/(increase) in financial  assets (73,803) (94,430)
Decrease/(increase) in contract costs (4,795) (5,495)
(Increase) in other assets 279 84
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables 22,841 (5,307)
(Decrease)/Increase in employee benefi ts 206 (21)
Increase in deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i ties 7,365 3,555
Increase in income tax payable (6,886) 7,704

Net cash from operating activities 19,203 84,587
 
Disclosure of borrowings
Refer to note 16.
 
Changes in liabilities related to third party interests in consolidated entities
Refer to note 17.
 
Note 10. Cash and cash equivalents
 

Consolidated
 2024 2023
 '000 '000

Cash at Bank 22,963 82,973
Investment securi ties  held for l iquidity purposes 30,061 -
Cash of third-party interests  in consol idated enti ties 15,089 21,484

68,113 104,457
 
Cash of third-party interests  in consol idated en((es is  restricted as  i t i s  held within the fund investment vehicles  on behalf
of the third-party investors  in these vehicles . The cash is  restricted to use cashflows in the l i(ga(on funding assets  made
on their behal f and costs  of administering the fund.
 
Note 11. Trade receivables
 

Consolidated
 2024 2023



 2024 2023
 '000 '000
 

Due from l i tigation service 10,986 2,063
10,986 2,063

 
The s ignificant increase in trade receivables  in the period was mainly due to the resolu(on of one l i(ga(on asset which
was received immediately after the period on 1 July 2024.
 
As  at 30 June 2024, trade receivables  are expected to be settled within 12 months  after the Balance Sheet date.
 
Al lowance for expected credit losses
The Group has  recognised a loss  of ni l  (2023: ni l ) in profit or loss  in respect of the expected credit losses  for the year ended
30 June 2024.
 
Note 12. Due from resolution of financial assets
 

2024 2023
 '000 '000
 

At start of period (as restated as at 1 July 2022) 11,873 24,340
Transfer from real isation of l i tigation funding assets  (including Foreign
Exchange gain)

104,400 180,155

Proceeds from l i tigation funding assets (112,990) (192,623)
Other income 697 -
Balance as at end of period 3,980 11,873
 
From 1 July 2023, management has  changed their analys is  of the transfer from the real isa(on of l i(ga(on funding assets
to account for real isa(on including foreign currency gains . This  change has  been reflected in the 30 June 2024 disclosure,
and the 30 June 2023 compara(ve has  been updated for cons istency. This  change is  a  disclosure change only and has  not
changed the total  balance at the end of the period.
 
As  at 30 June 2024, amounts  due from resolu(on of financial  assets  are expected to be se8led within 12 months  aPer the
Balance Sheet date.
 
Note 13. Contract costs - litigation contracts
 

2024 2023
 '000 '000
 

Contract costs  - l i tigation contracts 42,072 37,277
 
There are a  smal l  number of legacy investments  which are s(l l  being recorded under AAS B 15 Revenue from Contracts  with
Customers  due to the timing the contracts  were entered into. These are expected to resolve in the short to medium term.
 
Reconciliation of litigation contract costs
Reconci l ia(on of the contract costs  at the beginning and end of the current period and previous  financial  year are set out
below:
 

2024 2023
 '000 '000

Balance at 1 July 37,277 31,783
Additions  during the period 8,030 5,495
Real isations  of contract assets (3,236) -
Balance as  at end of period 42,072 37,277
 
The Group has  recognised impairment losses  of ni l  (2023: ni l ) in profit or loss  on contract costs  for the period ended 30
June 2024.
 
Note 14. Litigation funding assets at fair value through profit or loss

2024 2023
 '000 '000
 

At start of period (as restated as at 1 July 2022) 391,410 296,980
Deployments 45,301 30,756
Deployments  - third-party interests 45,975 59,094
Real isations  of l i tigation funding assets  (including foreign
exchange (losses)/gains)

(104,400) (180,155)

Income for the period 86,926 184,735
Balance as at end of period 465,213 391,410

Litigation funding assets  at fa i r value through income
statement

202,913 165,768

Litigation funding assets  at fa i r value through income
statement - third-party interests

262,300 225,642

Total litigation funding assets 465,213 391,410
 
Effec(ve from 1 July 2023, management has  adopted a new approach to the real isa(on of l i(ga(on funding assets  and the
recogni(on of foreign exchange gains . Consequently, the compara(ve note disclosure for the period ended 30 June 2023
has  been restated to rec(fy the al located amounts  to certain l ine i tems. This  restatement has  affected the disclosure of
certain l ine i tems from the prior year's  note, including income for the period. I t i s  important to note that the overal l
balance at the end of the prior period remains  unchanged.
 



 
Li(ga(on funding assets  are financial  instruments  that relate to the provis ion of capital  in connec(on with legal  finance.
The Group fund through both direct investments  as  wel l  as  us ing third party capital  via  a  fund management model . The
table above sets  forth the changes  in l i tigation funding assets  at the beginning and end of the relevant reporting periods.
 
Note 15. Trade and other payables
 

2024 2023
 '000 '000

 Trade payables 29,789 7,001
 Other payables 587 534

30,376 7,535
 
Refer to note 21 for further information on financial  instruments .
 
Note 16. Borrowings
 

2024 2023
 '000 '000
 

Borrowings 61,917 68,976
61,917 68,976

 
 
Reconci l iation of borrowings  of third-party
interests  in consol idated enti ties : 2024 2023

 '000 '000
 

 Balance 1 July - 14,494
 Proceeds from borrowings - -
 Repayment of borrowings - (14,848)
 Net accrued interest - (17)
 Amortisation of borrowing costs - 34
 Other non-cash i tems - 336
 Balance as  at end of period - -

 Reconci l iation of borrowings  of LCM: 2024 2023
 '000 '000
 

 Balance 1 July 68,976 54,915
 Proceeds from borrowings - 9,636
 Repayment of borrowings (8,139) -
 Payments  for borrowing costs (819) (256)
 Net accrued interest 648 1,943
 Amortisation 1,221 399
 Other non-cash i tems 29 2,339
 Balance as  at end of period 61,917 68,976

 
 
O n 22 February 2021, LC M entered into a  credit faci l i ty with Northleaf Capital  Partners  for an aggregate amount of US
50,000,000, AUD equivalent of 74,704,9161 (the "Faci l i ty"). The Faci l i ty carries  interest together with a  profit par(cipa(on,
capped at 13% per annum. The Faci l i ty has  an overal l  term of four years  and is  secured against LC M's  assets . As  at 30 June
2024, LCM has  ni l  outstanding uti l i sation. Borrowings  have a maturi ty date of February 2025.
 
LC M agreed to various  debt covenants  including a  minimum effec(ve net tangible worth, borrowings  as  a  percentage of
effec(ve net tangible worth, minimum l iquidity, a  minimum consol idated EB I T and a minimum mul(ple of invested capital
on concluded contract assets  over a  specified period. There have been no defaults  or breaches  related to the Faci l i ty during
the year ended 30 June 2024. Should LC M not sa(sfy any of these covenants , the outstanding balance of the Faci l i ty may
become due and payable.
 
LC M incurred costs  in rela(on to arranging the Faci l i ty of 1,649,000 which were reflected transac(ons costs  and wi l l  be
amor(sed over the 4 year term of the borrowings. As  at 30 June 2024, 422,000 of these loan arrangement fees  remained
outstanding.
 
 1 Converted at the functional  currency spot rates  of exchange at the reporting date
 
Note 17.                Financial liabilities related to third-party interests in consolidated entities
 

2024 2023
 '000 '000
 

 Balance 1 July 243,990 142,180
 Proceeds - capital  contributions  from Limited Partners 30,505 74,980
 Payments  - distributions  to Limited Partners (56,407) (94,373)
 Movement on financial  l iabi l i ties  related to third-party interests  in

consol idated enti ties  (note 5) 48,382 111,953
 Other non-cash i tems, including foreign exchange gain/loss (1,521) 9,250
 Balance as  at end of period 264,950 243,990
 
Note 18. Equity - issued capital



Note 18. Equity - issued capital
 

2024 2023 2024 2023
 Shares Shares '000 '000
 

Ordinary shares  - ful ly paid 104,118,534 106,613,927 69,674 69,674
Ordinary shares  - loan share
plan and Employee Benefi t
Trust 12,331,148 12,586,405 - -

116,449,682 119,200,332 69,674 69,674

Movements in ordinary share
capital  Date Shares '000
Balance 30 June 2022 106,613,927 69,674
Balance 30 June 2023 106,613,927 69,674
Options  exercised 31 October 2023 87,993 -
Options  exercised 23 November 2023 167,264 -
Shares  bought back during
the period (treasury shares) Various (2,750,650) -

30 June 2024 104,118,534 69,674
 
​As  announced on 5 O ctober 2023, the Group commenced a share buyback programme in respect of i ts  ordinary shares  up
to a maximum consideration of A 10.0 mi l l ion from the date of this  announcement.
 
Movements in ordinary shares issued under loan share plan ('LSP') and held by Employee Benefit Trust:
 Date Shares   '000
Balance 30 June 2022 12,586,405 -
Balance 30 June 2023 12,586,405 -
Options  exercised 31 October 2023 (87,993) -
Options  exercised 23 November 2023 (167,264) -
LSP expired 30 June 2024 (388,800) -
LSP shares  a l located to
LCM 30 June 2024 388,800 -

30 June 2024 12,331,148 -
Reconciliation of ordinary shares issued under LSP:

2024 2023
Total  shares  a l located under existing LSP arrangements  with underlying LSP shares
(note 29)                  7,501,608 7,890,408
Less  shares  a l located under existing LSP arrangements  without underlying LSP
shares  (note 29)                  (221,467) (221,467)
Shares  held by LCM Employee Benefi t Trust for future a l location under employee
share and option plans 4,917,464 4,917,464
Exercise of options  during the period held by the LCM Employee Benefi t Trust (255,257) -
Shares  held by LCM for future a l location under employee share and option plans 388,800 -

12,331,148 12,586,405
 
Ordinary shares
O rdinary shares  en(tle the holder to par(cipate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company in
proportion to the number of and amounts  paid on the shares  held. The ful ly paid ordinary shares  have no par value and the
Company does  not have a l imited amount of authorised capital .
 
O n a show of hands every member present at a  mee(ng in person or by proxy shal l  have one vote and upon a pol l  each
share shal l  have one vote.
 
Ordinary shares - under loan share plan ('LSP')
The Company has  an equity scheme pursuant to which certain employees  may access  a  LSP. The acquis i tion of shares  under
this  LS P  is  ful ly funded by the Company through the gran(ng of a  l imited recourse loan. The shares  under LS P  are restricted
un(l  the loan is  repaid. The underlying op(ons within the LS P  have been accounted for as  a  share-based payment. Refer to
note 29 for further detai ls . W hen the loans  are se8led the shares  are reclass ified as  ful ly paid ordinary shares  and the
equity wi l l  increase by the amount of the loan repaid.
 
Ordinary shares - held by Employee Benefit Trust
The Employee Benefit Trust ('EBT') holds  performance related shareholdings  awarded to former execu(ve which did not
vest. That benefit comprised 4,917,464 shares  of which 4,662,207 remain unal located as  at 30 June 2024 (2023:
4,917,464).
 
Ordinary shares - partly paid
As at 30 June 2024, there are currently 1,433,022 partly paid shares  issued at an issue price of 0.17 per share. No amount
has  been paid up and the shares  wi l l  become ful ly paid upon payment to the Company of 0.17 per share. As  per the terms of
issue, the partly paid shares  have no maturi ty date and the amount is  payable at the option of the holder.
 
Partly paid shares  en(tle the holder to par(cipate in dividends and the proceeds of the Company in propor(on to the
number of and amounts  paid on the shares  held. The partly paid shares  do not carry the right to par(cipate in new issues
of securi(es. Partly paid shareholders  are en(tled to receive no(ce of any mee(ngs  of shareholders . The partly paid
shareholders  are en(tled to vote in the same propor(on as  the amounts  paid on the partly paid shares  bears  to the total
amount paid and payable
 
Treasury shares
As at 30 June 2024, there were 2,750,650 treasury shares  (2023: ni l ) which has  resulted in 5,396,000 being deducted from
equity (2023: ni l ). Treasury shares  comprises  shares  bought back from shareholders  which are held by Canaccord on
behalf of LCM and class i fied as  treasury shares.
 
Capital risk management
The Group's  objec(ves  when managing capital  i s  to safeguard i ts  abi l i ty to con(nue as  a  going concern, so that i t can
provide returns  for shareholders  and benefits  for other stakeholders  and to maintain an op(mum capital  s tructure to



provide returns  for shareholders  and benefits  for other stakeholders  and to maintain an op(mum capital  s tructure to
reduce the cost of capital .
 
Capital  i s  regarded as  total  equity as  recognised in the statement of financial  pos ition.
 
I n order to maintain or adjust the capital  s tructure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders ,
return capital  to shareholders , i ssue new shares  or sel l  assets  to reduce debt.
 
The capital  ri sk management pol icy remains  unchanged from the 30 June 2023 Annual  Report.
 
Note 19. Equity - reserves
 
Movements in reserves
Movements  in each class  of reserve during the current and previous  financial  year are set out below:
 
Consolidated Share based Foreign Total

 payments currency reserves
 reserve translation  

'000 '000 '000
Balance at 1 July 2022 1,573 (3,585) (2,012)
Movements  in reserves  during the
period 867 2,187 3,054
Balance at 30 June 2023 2,440 (1,398) 1,042
Movements  in reserves  during the
period 1,116 2,013 3,129
Balance at 30 June 2024 3,556 615 4,171
 
Share-based payments reserve
The reserve is  used to recognise the value of equity benefits  provided to employees  and Directors  as  part of their
remuneration, and other parties  as  part of their compensation for services .
 
Foreign currency translation reserve
This  reserve is  used to record di fferences  on the trans lation of the assets  and l iabi l i ties  of foreign operations.
 
Note 20. Equity - dividends
 

2024 2023
 '000 '000

Final  unfranked ordinary dividend paid (2024: 2.25 cents , 2023: ni l ) 4,976 -
 
The Directors  declare a  dividend for the year ended 30 June 2024 of 1.25 pence per ordinary share, to be paid on 4
December 2024 to el igible shareholders  on the register as  at 1 November 2024. The ordinary shares  wi l l  be marked ex-
dividend on 31 O ctober 2024. The financial  effect of dividends declared aPer the repor(ng date is  not reflected in the 30
June 2024 financial  s tatements  and wi l l  be recognised in subsequent financial  reports .
 
Franking credits
The franking credits  avai lable to the Group as  at 30 June 2024 are 338,000 (2023: 338,000).
 
Note 21. Financial instruments
 
Financial risk management objectives
The Group's  ac(vi(es  expose i t to a  variety of financial  ri sks : market risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and l iquidity risk. The Group's  overal l  ri sk management program focuses  on the
unpredictabi l i ty of financial  markets  and seeks  to minimise poten(al  adverse effects  on the financial  performance of the
Group. The Group uses  different methods to measure different types  of risk to which i t i s  exposed. These methods include
sensitivi ty analys is  in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks  and ageing analys is  for credit risk.
 
Risk management is  carried out by senior finance execu(ves  ('finance') under pol icies  approved by the Board of Directors
('the Board'). These pol icies  include iden(fica(on and analys is  of the risk exposure of the Group and appropriate
procedures, controls  and risk l imits . F inance iden(fies, evaluates  and hedges  financial  ri sks  within the Group's  opera(ng
units . Finance reports  to the Board on a monthly bas is .
 
F inancial  instruments  of the Group is  comprised of l i(ga(on funding assets  class ified as  financial  assets  at F VTP L and
financial  l iabi l i(es  at F VTP L related to third party interests  with the remaining financial  instruments  held at amor(sed
cost.
 
Market risk
Foreign currency risk
The carrying amount of the Group's  foreign currency denominated financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i(es  at the repor(ng
date were as  fol lows:

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
 2024 2024 2023 2023

Consolidated '000 '000 '000 '000
 

US dol lars 178,625 (314,768) 203,912 (314,923)
Pound Sterl ing 267,971 (16,500) 173,064 (2,542)
Singapore Dol lars 2,346 (16) - -
United Arab Emirates  Dirham 2 (4) 5,614 (744)
Hong Kong dol lars - - 28,087 -
Other 4 - 490 (1)

448,947 (331,288) 411,167 (318,210)
 
The Group had net assets  denominated in foreign currencies  of 117,659,000 (assets  of 448,947,000 less  l iabi l i(es  of
331,288,000) as  at 30 June 2024 (2023: net assets  92,956,000). Based on this  exposure, had the Austral ian dol lars
weakened or strengthened by 10% against these foreign currencies  with a l l  other variables  held constant, the Group's  profi t



weakened or strengthened by 10% against these foreign currencies  with a l l  other variables  held constant, the Group's  profi t
before tax for the year would have increased and decreased respec(vely by 11,766,000 (2023: 9,296,000). The percentage
change is  the expected overal l  vola(l i ty of the s ignificant currencies , which is  based on management's  assessment of
reasonable poss ible fluctua(ons taking into cons idera(on movements  over the last 12 months. The actual  real ised foreign
exchange loss  for the year ended 30 June 2024 was 2,934,000 (2023: loss  of 2,892,000). The movement in the foreign
currency trans lation reserve for the year ended 30 June 2024 was a  gain of 2,013,000 (2023: gain 2,187,000).
 
Foreign exchange risk arises  mainly from l i(ga(on funding assets  and borrowings  which are denominated in a  currency
that is  not the func(onal  currency in which they are measured. The risk is  monitored us ing sens i(vity analys is  and cash
flow forecas(ng. The Group's  contract cost assets  are not hedged as  those currency pos i(ons are cons idered to be long
term in nature.
 
Interest rate risk
Aside from the l i(ga(on funding agreements  at fa i r value, the Group's  main interest rate risk arises  from interest on cash
at bank.        
 
An official  increase/decrease in interest rates  of 50 (2023: 50) bas is  points  would have a favourable/adverse effect on
profit before tax of 341,000 (2023: 522,000) per annum. The percentage change is  based on the expected vola(l i ty of
interest rates  us ing market data and analysts  forecasts .
 
Credit risk
Credit risk refers  to the risk that on becoming contractual ly en(tled to a  se8lement or award a defendant wi l l  default on i ts
contractual  obl iga(on to pay resul(ng in financial  loss  to the Group. The Group assesses  the defendants  in the ma8ers
funded by the Group prior to entering into any agreement to provide funding and con(nues this  assessment during the
course of funding. W henever poss ible the Group ensures  that securi ty for se8lements  sums is  provided, or the se8lements
funds are placed into sol ici tors ' trust accounts . However, the Group's  con(nual  monitoring of the defendants ' financial
capacity mitigates  this  risk.
 
The maximum credit risk exposure represented by cash, cash equivalents , trade and other receivables , due from resolu(on
of financial  assets  and financial  assets  at fa i r value through profit or loss  i s  specified in the consol idated statements  of
financial  pos i(on. The exposure for financial  assets  held at amor(sed cost i s  the carrying amount, net of any provis ions
for impairment of those assets , which includes  cash, cash equivalents  and trade and other receivables . The Group does  not
hold any col lateral .
 
To mi(gate credit risk on cash and cash equivalents , the Group holds  cash with Austral ian and American financial
insti tutions  with at least an AA- credit rating.
 
The Group appl ies  the s impl ified approach to recognise impairment on se8lement and receivable balances  based on the
l i fe(me expected credit loss  at each repor(ng date. The Group reviews the l i fe(me expected credit loss  rate based on
historical  col lec(on performance, the specific provis ions  of any se8lement agreement, assessments  of recoverabi l i ty
during the due di l igence process  and a forward-looking assessment of macro-economic factors  however note that the
Group's  opera(ons are general ly uncorrelated to market condi(ons and therefore has  l i8le to no impact on the
recoverabi l i ty of the Group's  financial  assets .
 
For trade receivables  and due from resolu(on of financial  assets , at every repor(ng date, the Group evaluates  whether the
trade receivables  and due from resolu(on of financial  assets  i s  cons idered to have low credit risk us ing a l l  reasonable
and supportable informa(on that i s  avai lable without undue cost or effort. I n making that evalua(on, the Group
reassesses  indicators  of changes  in credit qual i ty of their counterpar(es. I n addi(on, the Group cons iders  that there has
been a s ignificant increase in credit risk when contractual  payments  are more than 90 days  past due or i f sufficient
indicators  exist that the debtor is  unl ikely to pay. Refer to note 11 and 12 for the respec(ve notes  on these i tems. General ly,
trade receivables  are wri8en off when there is  no reasonable expecta(on of recovery. I ndicators  of this  include the fa i lure
of a  debtor to engage in a  repayment plan, no ac(ve enforcement ac(vity and a fa i lure to make contractual  payments  for a
period greater than 1 year. 
 
I n addi(on, the fa ir value of Li(ga(on Funding Assets  (LFA's) i s  measured us ing valua(on techniques  including the
discounted cash flow (D C F) model . The inputs  to these models  are taken from observable markets  where poss ible, but
where this  i s  not feas ible, a  degree of judgement is  required in establ ishing fa ir values. Judgements  include cons idera(ons
of inputs  such as  l iquidity risk, credit risk and vola(l i ty. Changes  in assump(ons rela(ng to these factors  could affect the
reported fa ir value of financial  instruments , including credit risk, refer to note 22.
 
Liquidity risk
Vigi lant l iquidity risk management requires  the Group to maintain sufficient l iquid assets  (mainly cash and cash
equivalents) to be able to pay debts  as  and when they become due and payable.
 
The Group manages  l iquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves  and by con(nuously monitoring actual  and
forecast cash flows and matching the maturi ty profi les  of financial  assets  and l iabi l i ties .
 
Remaining contractual maturities
The maturi ty profi le of the Group's  financial  l iabi l i ties  based on contractual  maturi ty on an undiscounted bas is  are:   
 

Less  than 1
year

Between 1 and
5 years Over 5 years

No
contractual

maturi ty date
Total

Consolidated - 2024 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000

Financial liabilities  

Trade payables 29,752 - - - 29,752
Other payables 624 - - - 624
Borrowings 68,200 - - - 68,200
Third-party interest in
consol idated enti ties

- - - 264,950 264,950

Total  non-derivatives 98,576 - - 264,950 363,526

   

Less  than 1 Between 1 and No



Less  than 1
year

Between 1 and
5 years Over 5 years

No
contractual

maturi ty date
Total

Consolidated - 2023 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000

Financial liabilities  

Trade payables 7,001 - - - 7,001
Other payables 241 - - - 241
Borrowings 9,320 75,988 - 85,309
Third-party interest in
consol idated enti ties

- - - 243,990 243,990

Total  non-derivatives 16,562 75,988 - 243,990 336,541
 
Note 22. Fair value measurements
 
The fa ir value measurements  used for a l l  assets  and l iabi l i ties  held by the Group l i s ted below are level  3:
 
Assets 2024 2023
Li tigation funding assets '000 '000
   APAC 111,662 158,836
   EMEA 353,551 232,574
Total Level 3 assets 465,213 391,410

Liabilities  
Financial  l iabi l i ties  related to third-party interests  in
consol idated enti ties 264,950 243,990
Total Level 3 liabilities 264,950 243,990
 
 
Refer note 14 for movements  in level  3 assets  and note 17 for movements  in level  3 l iabi l i(es. There were no transfers  into
or out of level  3 during the period ended 30 June 2024.
 
As  at 30 June 2024, the financial  l iabi l i ty due to third-party interests  i s  264,950,000 (2023: 243,990,000), recorded at fa i r
value as  represented in note 17. Amounts  included in the consol idated statement of financial  pos i(on represent the fa ir
value of the third-party interests  in the related financial  assets  and the amounts  included in the consol idated statement of
profit or loss  and other comprehensive income represent the third-party share of any gain or loss  during the period, see
note 4.

Sensitivity of Level 3 Valuations
The Group's  fa i r value pol icy provides  for ranges  of percentages  to be appl ied against the risk adjustment factor to more
than 159 discrete objec(ve l i(ga(on events . The tables  below set forth each of the key unobservable inputs  used to value
the Group's  LFA assets  and the appl icable ranges  and weighted average by relative fa ir value for such inputs .
 
The Group implemented a new valua(on methodology for LFA assets  during the year ended 30 June 2023. LFA assets  are fa ir
valued us ing an income approach which is  the technique adopted for LFA Assets . Under the income approach, future cash
flows associated with; cash out flows, including investments  and deployments , and cash inflows such as  se8lements  or
resolu(ons, are converted to a  s ingle current (discounted) amount, reflec(ng current market expecta(ons about those
future amounts . That is , the amount that could reasonably be expected to be paid to acquire the asset at that point in (me.
I n developing our framework we also looked to I ndustry peers  for a l ignment in methodology, the benefit being that
adop(ng a s imi lar methodology provides  a  level  of comparabi l i ty. S imi lar to industry peers , the framework developed
appl ied probabi l i(es  based on observable mi lestones  for each investment within the por>ol io as  wel l  as  making informed
assump(ons around inputs  such as  discount rates , (ming and risk factors , a l l  of which are cons idered Level  3 inputs . I n
cases  where cash flows are denominated in a  foreign currency, forecasts  are developed in the appl icable foreign currency
and trans lated to AUD dol lars .
 
A Discounted Cash Flow approach is  then appl ied to each underlying investment on an individual  bas is  to arrive at a  net
present value of the future expected cash flows.
 
The cash flow forecast i s  updated each repor(ng period, based on the best avai lable informa(on on progress  of the
underlying matter at the time. These objective events  could include, among others :

- Stage of the investment

- ongoing developments

- progress

- recovery or sovereign risk

- legal  team expertise

- other factors  impacting the expected outcome

 
Each repor(ng period, the updated risk-adjusted cash flow forecast i s  then discounted at the then current discount rate to
measure fa ir value. The discount rate includes  an appl icable risk-free rate and credit spread to incorporate both market
and idiosyncratic asset-class  risk.
 
The Group's  fa i r value pol icy provides  for ranges  of percentages  to be appl ied against the risk adjustment factor to more
than 159 discrete objec(ve l i(ga(on events . The tables  below set forth each of the key unobservable inputs  used to value
the Group's  LFA assets  and the appl icable ranges  and weighted average by relative fa ir value for such inputs .
 
30 June 2024      

Item
Valuation
technique Unobservable Input Min Max

Weighted
Ave

 

Li tigation
funding
asset

Discounted
cash flow Discount rate 12.80% 12.80% 12.80%

Duration 0.75 7.08 4.57



Duration 0.75 7.08 4.57
Adjusted risk premium 0% 85% 17%

Adjusted risk premium - case milestone: Min1 Max1
Weighted

Ave
% of

portfolio2

Pre-commencement & commenced 0% 20% 29% 48%

Pleadings 5% 35% 20% 12%

Discovery & evidence 20% 40% 25% 9%
Signi ficant rul ing or other objective

event prior to tria l  court judgment 25% 80% 47%
7%

Settlement 70% 85% 80% 1%

 Tria l  court judgment or tribunal  award 0% 85% 63% 9%

 Appeal  judgment 0% 85% 3% 12%

Enforcement 75% 85% 83% 3%
 
30 June 2023      

Item
Valuation
technique Unobservable Input Min Max

Weighted
Ave

 

Li tigation
funding
asset

Discounted
cash flow Discount rate 12.80% 12.80% 12.80%

Duration 0.67 5.83 4.10
Adjusted risk premium 0% 85% 18%

Adjusted risk premium - case milestone: Min1 Max1
Weighted

Ave
% of

portfolio2

Pre-commencement & commenced 0% 20% 0% 46%

Pleadings 5% 35% 10% 3%

Discovery & evidence 20% 40% 21% 15%
Signi ficant rul ing or other objective

event prior to tria l  court judgment 25% 80% 48%
21%

Settlement 70% 85% 70% 3%

 Tria l  court judgment or tribunal  award 0% 85% 80% 1%

 Appeal  judgment 0% 85% 7% 9%

Enforcement 75% 85% 76% 1%
 
 
1 Minimum and maximum within each cohort represent the actual  adjusted risk premiums appl ied in the period
 
2 Percentage of portfol io represents  the percentage of the book within the cohort
 
At each repor(ng period, the Group reviews the fa ir value of each l i(ga(on funding asset in connec(on with the
prepara(on of the consol idated financial  s tatements . A fa i r value of 10% higher or lower, whi le a l l  other variables  remain
constant, in financial  assets  at fa i r value through profi t or loss  would have increased or decreased the Group's  income and
net assets  by 46,521,000 as  at 30 June 2024 (30 June 2023: 39,141,000). S imi larly, a  fa i r value of 10% higher or lower,
whi le a l l  other variables  remain constant, in financial  l iabi l i(es  at fa i r value through profit or loss  would have increased
or decreased the Group's  income and net assets  by 26,495,000 as  at 30 June 2024 (30 June 2023: 24,399,000).
 
At 30 June 2024, should discount rates  been 50 bps  or 100 bps  higher or lower than the actual  discount rate used in the
fair value es(ma(on, whi le a l l  other variables  remained constant, consol idated income and net assets  would have
increased and decreased by the fol lowing amounts:

2024 2023
Hypothetical  Change '000 '000
100bps lower interest rates 5,441 2,182
50bps lower interest rates 2,743 1,084
100bps higher interest rates (5,440) (2,126)
50bps higher interest rates (2,736) (1,070)
 
Reasonably poss ible a l ternative assumptions
The determina(on of fa i r value for l i(ga(on funding assets  involves  s ignificant judgements  and es(mates. W hi le the
poten(al  range of outcomes for the assets  i s  wide, the Group's  fa i r value es(ma(on is  i ts  best assessment of the current
fair value of each asset, as  appl icable. Such es(mate is  inherently subjec(ve, being based largely on an assessment of how
individual  events  have changed the poss ible outcomes of the asset, as  appl icable, and their rela(ve probabi l i(es  and
hence the extent to which the fa ir value has  a l tered. The aggregate of the fa ir values  selected fa l ls  within a  wide range of
reasonably poss ible es(mates. I n the Group's  opinion, there is  no useful  a l terna(ve valua(on that would be8er quan(fy
the market risk inherent in the por>ol io and there are no inputs  or variables  to which the values  of the assets  are
correlated other than interest rates  which impact the discount rates  appl ied.
 
Note 23. Key management personnel disclosures
 
Compensation
The aggregate compensa(on made to Directors  and other members  of key management personnel  of the Group is  set out
below:
 

Consolidated
 2024 2023
 
 

Short-term employee benefi ts 2,844,106 2,188,144
Post-employment benefi ts 67,584 59,611



Post-employment benefi ts 67,584 59,611
Long-term benefi ts 28,975 13,145
Share-based payments 408,583 375,014

3,349,249 2,635,914
 
 
Detai ls  of the remuneration of key management personnel  of the Group are set out in the fol lowing tables .
 

Cash
salaries

and fees
Bonus Benefits Accrued

leave
Superannuation/

Pension

Long
service
leave

Share-
based

payments
Total

2024

Non-executive Directors

Dr David King 111,458 - - - 12,302 - - 123,760

Jonathan
Moulds

214,255 - - - - - - 214,255

Gerhard
Seebacher

127,377 - - - - - - 127,377

453,091 - - - 12,302 - - 465,393

Executive directors & other executives

Patrick
Moloney

1,316,062 183,783 114,754 36,864 - 28,975 199,145 1,879,583

David Col l ins1 22,921 - - - - - - 22,921

Mary Gangemi2 552,818 163,814 - - 55,282 - 209,438 981,352

1,891,800 347,597 114,754 36,864 55,282 28,975 408,583 2,883,856

2,344,891 347,597 114,754 36,864 67,584 28,975 408,583 3,349,249

 
1 David Col l ins  appointed as  Chief F inancial  O fficer on 18 June 2024 on a base salary of £350,000 (AUD equivalent
672,000). Refer note 26 for detai ls  on amounts  paid to Greatham Advisors  Limited, a  related en(ty of David Col l ins , for
I nvestor Rela(on services  prior to David becoming an employee. David Col l ins  has  not been appointed as  a  Director as  at
30 June 2024.
 
2 Stepped down as  Chief Financial  Officer 18 June 2024 and res igned as  Director 5 September 2024
 

Cash
salaries

and fees
Bonus Benefits Accrued

leave
Superannuation

Long
service
leave

Share-
based

payments
Total

2023

 

Non-executive
Directors

  

Dr David King 100,000 - - - 10,500 - - 110,500

Jonathan
Moulds

178,586 - - - - - - 178,586

Gerhard
Seebacher

111,356 - - - - - - 111,356

389,943 - - - 10,500 - - 400,443

Executive
Directors

  

Patrick
Moloney

1,071,517 118,249 5,709 (29,023) - 13,145 252,293 1,431,891

Mary Gangemi 491,112 140,637 - - 49,111 - 122,721 803,581

1,562,629 258,886 5,709 (29,023) 49,111 13,145 375,014 2,235,472

1,952,572 258,886 5,709 (29,023) 59,611 13,145 375,014 2,635,914

 
Directors' share options
The detai ls  of options  over ordinary shares  in the Company held during the financial  year by each Director is  set out below:
 

Name of the
Director  Grant date  Expiry date

 Exercise
price

 Balance at
the start of
the year  Granted  Exercised

 Expired /
forfeited /
other

 Balance at
the end of
the year

 
Patrick
Moloney2 19/11/2018 25/11/2028 0.47 1,595,058 - - - 1,595,058

Patrick
Moloney2 04/12/2017 04/12/2027 0.60 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000

Patrick
Moloney2 04/12/2017 04/12/2027 0.60 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000



Moloney2

Patrick
Moloney2 01/11/2019 01/11/2029 £0.7394 1,166,400 - - (388,800) 777,600

Patrick
Moloney2 13/10/2020 13/10/2030 £0.6655 291,597 - - - 291,597

Patrick
Moloney2 27/10/2021 27/10/2031

£1.06
279,232 - - - 279,232

Patrick
Moloney 1,2 27/10/2021 27/10/2031

£1.06
900,000 - - - 900,000

Mary
Gangemi2 27/10/2021 27/10/2031

£1.06
93,585 - - - 93,585

Mary
Gangemi2 27/10/2021 27/10/2031

£1.14
26,315 - - - 26,315

Patrick
Moloney2 07/10/2022 07/10/2032

£0.00
169,276 - - - 169,276

Patrick
Moloney2 07/10/2022 07/10/2032

£0.00
3,303,796 - - - 3,303,796

Mary
Gangemi2 07/10/2022 07/10/2032

£0.00
201,325 - (67,108) - 134,217

Mary
Gangemi2 07/10/2022 07/10/2032

£0.00
1,266,455 - - - 1,266,455

Patrick
Moloney2 04/10/2023 04/10/2033

£0.00
- 167,043 - - 167,043

Mary
Gangemi2 04/10/2023 04/10/2033

£0.00
- 148,893 - - 148,893

11,293,039 315,936 (67,108) (388,800) 11,153,067
 
1 O n 27 O ctober 2021, Patrick Moloney exercised 900,000 unl isted op(ons at an exercise price of A 1.00 which were
granted under the Employee share op(on scheme. Upon exercise, the Group issued 900,000 new ordinary shares  in the
capital  of the Group to Patrick Moloney which have been granted under the Loan Share P lan with the sole purpose to fund
the exercise price of the 900,000 unl isted options
 
2 Outstanding share options  as  disclosed in note 29.   
 
Directors' interests
The number of shares  in the Company held at the end of the financial  year by each Director is  set out below:

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
 Name of the Director  Description of shares Number Number

 
Jonathan Moulds Ful ly paid ordinary shares 5,250,000 5,250,000
Dr David King Ful ly paid ordinary shares 1,951,484 1,951,484
Patrick Moloney Ful ly paid ordinary shares 4,204,813 4,204,813
Patrick Moloney Unl isted partly paid shares 1,433,022 1,433,022
Gerhard Seebacher N/A - -
Mary Gangemi Ful ly paid ordinary shares 64,348 27,500

1 Unl isted partly paid shares  in the Company were issued at a  price of 0.17 per share, whol ly unpaid and wi l l  convert to a
share upon payment to the Company of 0.17 per share. Further detai ls  provided in note 18 to the financial  s tatements .
 
No changes  took place in the interest of the directors  between 30 June 2024 and 17 September 2024.
 
Note 24. Remuneration of auditors
 
During the financial  year the fol lowing fees  were paid or payable for services  provided by BD O  Audit P ty Ltd, the auditor of
the Company, and i ts  network fi rms:
 

Consolidated
 2024 2023
 

Audit Services - BDO Audit Pty Ltd  
Audit or review of financial  report 253,727 149,700

253,727 149,700

 Audit Services - Firms related to BDO Audit Pty Ltd  
 Audit of statutory report of control led enti ties 186,721 124,113

186,721 124,113

 Audit Services - Unrelated Firms  
 Audit of statutory report of control led enti ties 64,625 27,904

64,625 27,904
 
Note 25. Contingent liabilities
 
The majori ty of the Group's  funding agreements  contain a  contractual  indemnity from the Group to the funded party that
the Group wi l l  pay adverse costs  awarded to the successful  party in respect of costs  incurred during the period of funding,
should the cl ient's  l i(ga(on be unsuccessful . The Group's  pos i(on is  that for the majori ty of l i(ga(on projects  which are
subject to funding, the Group enters  into insurance arrangements  which lessen or el iminate the impact of such awards  and
therefore any adverse costs  order exposure.
 
Note 26. Related party transactions
 



 
The fol lowing transactions  occurred with related parties :

Consolidated
 2024 2023
 
 

 Consulting fees  paid to Greatham Advisors  Limited - a  related
enti ty of David Col l ins 47,957 -

47,957 -
  
David Col l ins  i s  a  shareholder and director of Greatham Advisors  Limited, which carries  out I nvestor Rela(ons services .
The services  provided by Greatham Advisors  Limited ceased once David Col l ins  became an employee of the Group on 18
June 2024. As  at 30 June 2024 there were no amounts  owing to Greatham Advisors  Limited (2023: ni l ).
 
Note 27. Parent entity information
                               
Set out below is  the supplementary information about the parent enti ty, Li tigation Capital  Management Limited.

Consolidated
 

 2024 2023
 

 Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income '000 '000

 

 
 

 Profi t/(loss) after income tax 50,491 943

 Total  comprehensive income 50,491 943
 

Statement of financial position   
 

 Total  assets 103,055 70,274
 
 Total  l iabi l i ties (20,390) -
 
 Equity  
 Issued capital 64,278 69,674
 Share based payments  reserve 3,556 2,440
 Retained earnings 14,831 (1,840)

 Total  equity 82,665 70,274

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries
Li(ga(on Capital  Management Limited (as  holding en(ty), LC M O pera(ons P ty Ltd, LC M Li(ga(on Fund P ty Ltd, LC M
Corporate Services  P ty Ltd, LC M Recoveries  P ty Ltd, LC M Funding P ty Ltd, LC M Singapore P ty Ltd, LC M Funding S G P ty Ltd and
LC M Group Holdings  P ty Ltd are par(es  to a  deed of cross  guarantee under which each company guarantees  the debts  of the
others . The specified subs idiaries  represent a  'closed group' for the purposes  of the guarantee, and as  there are no other
parties  to the Deed that are control led by the Group, they also represent the 'extended closed group'.
 
Contingent liabilities
The parent enti ty had no contingent l iabi l i ties  as  at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023.
 
Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment
The parent enti ty had no capital  commitments  for property, plant and equipment as  at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023.
 
Material accounting policies
The accoun(ng pol icies  of the parent en(ty are cons istent with those of the Group, as  disclosed in note 2, except for the
fol lowing:

· Investments  in subs idiaries  are accounted for at cost, less  any impairment, in the parent enti ty;

· Dividends received from subs idiaries  are recognised as  other income by the parent en(ty and i ts  receipt
may be an indicator of an impairment of the investment.

 
Note 28. Interests in subsidiaries
 
The consol idated financial  s tatements  incorporate the assets , l iabi l i(es  and results  of the fol lowing subs idiaries  in
accordance with the accounting pol icy described in note 2:
 

Principal place of business /
Country of incorporation
Country of incorporation

Ownership Interest

 2024 2023
 

Name  %  %
 

LCM Litigation Fund Pty Ltd Austral ia 100% 100%
 

LCM Operations  Pty Ltd Austral ia 100% 100%
 

LCM Corporate Services  Pty Ltd Austral ia 100% 100%
 

LCM Singapore Pty Ltd Austral ia 100% 100%
 

LCM Recoveries  Pty Ltd Austral ia 100% 100%
 

LCM Advisory Limited Austral ia 100% 100%
 

LCM Funding Pty Ltd Austral ia 100% 100%
 

LCM Funding SG Pty Ltd Austral ia 100% 100%
 



LCM Funding SG Pty Ltd Austral ia 100% 100%
 

LCM Corporate Services  Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100% 100%
 

LCM Operations  UK Limited United Kingdom 100% 100%
 

LCM Corporate Services  UK Limited United Kingdom 100% 100%
 

LCM Recoveries  UK Limited United Kingdom 100% 100%
 

LCM Funding UK Limited United Kingdom 100% 100%
 

LCM Group Holdings  Pty Ltd Austral ia 100% 100%
 

 

LCM Global Alternative Returns Fund  
 

LCM Global  Alternative Returns  Fund GP
Limited Jersey 100% 100%

 

LCM Global  Alternative Returns  Fund
(Special  Partner) LP Jersey 100% 100%

 

 

LCM Global Alternative Returns Fund II  
 

LCM Global  Alternative Returns  Fund II
GP Limited Jersey 100% 100%

 

LCM Global  Alternative Returns  Fund II
(Special  Partner) LP Jersey 100% 100%

 

 
Note 29. Share-based payments    
 
The share-based payment expense for the period was 1,116,000 (2023: 867,000).
 
Loan Funded Share Plans ('LSP')
As detai led in note 18, the Group has  an equity scheme pursuant to which certain employees  may access  a  LS P. The shares
under LS P  are issued at the exercise price by gran(ng a l imited recourse loan. The LS P  shares  are restricted un(l  the loan is
repaid. O p(ons under this  scheme can be granted without an underlying LS P  share un(l  they have been exercised and on
this  bas is , do not form part of the Group's  i ssued share capital . The underlying op(ons have been accounted for as  a
share-based payments . The op(ons are issued over a  1-3 year ves(ng period. Ves(ng condi(ons include sa(sfac(on of
customary continuous employment with the Group and may include a share price hurdle.
 
During the period the Group granted ni l  (2023: ni l ) shares  under the LSP.
 
Set out below are summaries  of shares/options  granted under the LSP:
 
2024  

 Grant date  Expiry date
 Exercise

Price

 Balance at
the start of
the period  Granted  Exercised

 Expired/
forfeited/

other

Balance at
the end of
the period

 

04/12/2017 04/12/2027 0.60 2,000,000 2,000,000  

31/08/2018 31/08/2028 0.77 411,972 411,972  

19/11/2018 25/11/2028 0.47 1,595,058 1,595,058  

03/12/2018 03/12/2028 0.89 100,000 100,000  

01/11/2019 01/11/2029 £0.7394 1,432,753 (388,800) 1,043,953  

13/10/2020 13/10/2030 £0.6655 616,520 616,520  

27/10/2021 27/10/2031 £1.06 1,512,638 1,512,638  

27/10/2021 27/10/2031 £1.06 99,037 99,0371  

27/10/2021 27/10/2031 £1.14 122,430 122,4301  

7,890,408 - - (388,800) 7,501,608
 

 

1Options  granted without an underlying LSP share unti l  exercised ie, do not form part of the Group's  i ssued share
capital

 

Weighted average exercise price 1.049 0.000 0.000 1.420 1.089
 

 

 

2023  
 

 Grant date  Expiry date
 Exercise

Price

 Balance at
the start of
the period  Granted  Exercised

 Expired/
forfeited/

other

Balance at
the end of
the period

 

04/12/2017 04/12/2027 0.60 2,000,000 2,000,000  

31/08/2018 31/08/2028 0.77 411,972 411,972  

19/11/2018 25/11/2028 0.47 1,595,058 1,595,058  

03/12/2018 03/12/2028 0.89 100,000 100,000  

01/11/2019 01/11/2029 £0.7394 1,432,753 1,432,753  

01/11/2019 01/11/2029 £0.7730 66,137 (66,137) -  



01/11/2019 01/11/2029 £0.7730 66,137 (66,137) -

13/10/2020 13/10/2030 £0.6655 616,520 616,520  

27/10/2021 27/10/2031 £1.06 1,512,638 1,512,638  

27/10/2021 27/10/2031 £1.06 269,044 (170,007) 99,0371  

27/10/2021 27/10/2031 £1.14 130,807 (8,377) 122,4301  

8,134,929 - - (244,521) 7,890,408
 

 

Weighted average exercise price 1.059 0.000 0.000 1.386 1.049
 

1Options  granted without an underlying LSP share unti l  exercised ie, do not form part of the Group's  i ssued share
capital
 
There were 7,201,260 options  vested and exercisable as  at 30 June 2024 (2023: 6,869,211).
 
The weighted average remaining contractual  l i fe of op(ons under LS P  outstanding at the end of the financial  year was
0.892 years  (2023: 1.01 years).
 
Deferred Bonus Share Plan ('DBSP')               
The Company has  in place a  D BS P. O p(ons granted under the D BS P  reflect past performance and are in the form of ni l  cost
op(ons and wi l l  vest in three equal  tranches  from the date of i ssue and are subject to con(nued employment over the three
year period.
 
I n addi(on, the O p(ons granted under the D BS P  are subject to malus  and clawback provis ions. I n the event of a  change of
control  of the Company, unvested awards  wi l l  vest to the extent determined by the Board, taking into account the
propor(on of the period of (me between grant and the normal  ves(ng date that has  elapsed at the date of the relevant
event.
 
During the period the Group granted 771,911 (2023: 1,132,692) options  under the DBSP.
 
Set out below are summaries  of options  granted under the DBSP:

2024        

Grant date Expiry date
Exercise

Price

Balance at
the start

of the
period Granted Exercised

Expired/
forfeited/

other

Balance at
the end of
the period

07/10/2022 07/10/2032 0.00 1,132,692 - (255,257) - 877,435
04/10/2023 04/10/2033 0.00 - 771,911 771,911

1,132,692 771,911 (255,257) - 1,649,346

Weighted average exercise price 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

2023  

Grant date Expiry date
Exercise

Price

Balance at
the start

of the
period Granted Exercised

Expired/
forfeited/

other

Balance at
the end of
the period

07/10/2022 07/10/2032 1.1816 - 1,132,692 - - 1,132,692
- 1,132,692 - - 1,132,692

Weighted average exercise price 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
 
There were 377,564 options  vested and of these 255,257 exercised as  at 30 June 2024 (2023: ni l ).              
 
The weighted average remaining contractual  l i fe of op(ons under D BS P  outstanding at the end of the financial  year was
0.814 years  (2023: 1.265 years).

Executive Long Term Incentive Plan ('LTIP')
The Company has  in place an Execu(ve LTI P. O p(ons over ordinary shares  in the capital  of the Company ("O rdinary
Shares") are issued to recipients  under the LTI P  plan. The op(ons set out above have been granted under the LTI P  in the
form of ni l  cost op(ons and are subject to performance condi(ons which require the growth of Funds under Management
('FuM') over a  five year performance period. The performance conditions  associated with the options  are set out below:
 
(1)  50% vesting on reaching a  minimum of FuM of US 750m; and
(2)  100% vesting on reaching FuM of US 1bn.
 
The vesting date of options  granted is  the later of:
(1)   the third anniversary of the Grant Date;
(2)   the satis faction of the Performance Condition; or
(3)   the date of any adjustment under the Plan rules  of the Plan at the Boards  discretion.
 
Any awards  made to the par(cipants  are subject to a  five year holding period from the grant date. I n the event of a  change
of control  of the Company, unvested awards  wi l l  vest to the extent determined by the Board, taking into account the
propor(on of the period of (me between grant and the normal  ves(ng date that has  elapsed at the date of the relevant
event and the extent to which any performance condition has  been satis fied at the date of the relevant event.
 
During the period the Group granted ni l  (2023: 5,671,516) options  under the LTIP.
 



 
Set out below are summaries  of shares/options  granted under the LTIP:
 
2024  

 Grant date  Expiry date
 Exercise

Price

 Balance at
the start

of the
period  Granted  Exercised

 Expired/
forfeited/

other

Balance at
the end of
the period

07/10/2022 07/10/2032 0.0000 5,671,516 - - - 5,671,516
5,671,516 - - - 5,671,516

Weighted average exercise price 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

2023  

 Grant date  Expiry date
 Exercise

Price

 Balance at
the start

of the
period  Granted  Exercised

 Expired/
forfeited/

other

Balance at
the end of
the period

07/10/2022 07/10/2032 0.0000 - 5,671,516 - - 5,671,516
- 5,671,516 - - 5,671,516

Weighted average exercise price 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

There were ni l  LTIP's  vested and exercisable as  at 30 June 2024 (2023: ni l ).
 
The weighted average remaining contractual  l i fe of op(ons under D BS P  outstanding at the end of the financial  year was
1.263 years  (2023: 2.266 years).
 
For the op(ons under LS P  granted during the current period, the valua(on model  inputs  used in the Black-Scholes  pricing
model  to determine the fa ir value at the grant date, are as  fol lows:
 
 

Grant date  Expiry date
Share price

at grant
date

Exercise
price

Expected
volatility

Dividend
yield

Risk-free
interest

rate

Fair value at
grant date1

04/10/2023 04/10/2033 £0.98 £0.00 35.00% 1.10% 3.79% 1.820
 

​1 AUD amount. GBP equivalent £0.952
 
The expected vola(l i ty reflects  the assump(on that the historical  vola(l i ty over a  period s imi lar to the l i fe of the op(ons is
indicative of future trends, which may not necessari ly be the actual  outcome.            
 
Note 30. Events after the reporting period
 
O n 17 July 2024, LC M announced the resolu(on of a  s ingle case investment which forms part of LC M's  managed Global
Alterna(ve Returns  Fund ('Fund I ') and was funded directly from LC M's  balance sheet (25%) and Fund I  I nvestors  (75%). As
announced, the investment generated real isa(ons for LC M of at least AUD 12.5 mi l l ion, including performance fees,
compared to LCM's  invested capital  of AUD 1.5 mi l l ion, representing a  MOIC of 8.3x.
 
O f the resolu(ons which concluded close to period end which were disclosed as  outstanding receivables  as  at 30 June
2024, AUD 11.6 mi l l ion was received throughout July 2024.
 
Consolidated entity disclosure statement
For the year ended 30 June 2024                                                                                                                                                   

Name Type of entity

Trustee,
partner, or
participant

in joint
venture

% of share
capital
held

Country of
incorporation

Australian
resident or

foreign
resident
(for tax

purposes)

Foreign tax
jurisdiction
of foreign
residents

 
Li tigation Capital
Management Limited Body corporate n/a n/a Austral ia Austral ia n/a
LCM Litigation Fund Pty Ltd Body corporate n/a 100% Austral ia Austral ia n/a
LCM Operations  Pty Ltd Body corporate n/a 100% Austral ia Austral ia n/a
LCM Corporate Services  Pty
Ltd Body corporate n/a 100% Austral ia Austral ia n/a
LCM Singapore Pty Ltd Body corporate n/a 100% Austral ia Austral ia n/a
LCM Recoveries  Pty Ltd Body corporate n/a 100% Austral ia Austral ia n/a
LCM Advisory Limited Body corporate n/a 100% Austral ia Austral ia n/a
LCM Funding Pty Ltd Body corporate Trustee1 100% Austral ia Austral ia n/a
LCM Funding SG Pty Ltd Body corporate Trustee1 100% Austral ia Austral ia n/a
LCM Corporate Services  Pte.
Ltd. Body corporate n/a 100% Singapore Austral ia n/a
LCM Group Holdings  Pty Ltd Body corporate n/a 100% Austral ia Austral ia n/a

LCM Operations  UK Limited Body corporate n/a 100%
United

Kingdom Foreign
United

Kingdom
LCM Corporate Services  UK
Limited Body corporate n/a 100%

United
Kingdom Foreign

United
Kingdom

LCM Recoveries  UK Limited Body corporate n/a 100%
United

Kingdom Foreign
United

Kingdom
United United



LCM Funding UK Limited Body corporate Trustee1 100%
United

Kingdom Foreign
United

Kingdom
LCM Global  Alternative
Returns  Fund LP Partnership n/a n/a Jersey Foreign n/a2

LCM Global  Alternative
Returns  Feeder Fund LP Partnership n/a n/a Jersey Foreign n/a2

LCM Global  Alternative
Returns  Fund GP Limited Body corporate Partner 100% Jersey Foreign Jersey
LCM Global  Alternative
Returns  Fund (Special
Partner) LP Partnership Partner n/a Jersey Foreign Jersey
LCM Global  Alternative
Returns  Fund II LP Partnership n/a n/a Jersey Foreign n/a2

LCM Global  Alternative
Returns  Feeder Fund II LP Partnership n/a n/a Jersey Foreign n/a2

LCM Global  Alternative
Returns  Fund II Holding 1
LP Partnership n/a n/a Jersey Foreign n/a2

LCM Global  Alternative
Returns  Fund II Holding 2
LP Partnership n/a n/a Jersey Foreign n/a2

LCM Global  Alternative
Returns  Fund II GP Limited Body corporate Partner 100% Jersey Foreign Jersey
LCM Global  Alternative
Returns  Fund II (Special
Partner) LP Partnership Partner n/a Jersey Foreign Jersey
 
1 A trustee rela(onship is  establ ished through a Nominee Agreement, where the en(ty (the nominee) and the relevant Fund
agree that the nominee wi l l  hold the Fund's  investment on i ts  behal f.
 
2 Limited Partners  in the Funds are tax transparent and, as  a  result, are not cons idered tax res idents  of any par(cular
jurisdiction
 
DIRECTORS DECLARATION
 
In the directors ' opinion:
 

·      the attached financial  s tatements  and notes  comply with the Corporations  Act 2001, Austral ian Accounting
Standards  and other mandatory profess ional  reporting requirements;

·      the attached financial  s tatements  and notes  comply with International  Financial  Reporting Standards  as  issued by
the International  Accounting Standards  Board as  described in note 2 to the financial  s tatements;

·      the attached financial  s tatements  and notes  give a  true and fa ir view of the consol idated enti ty's  financial
pos ition as  at 30 June 2024 and of i ts  performance for the period ended on that date;

·      there are reasonable grounds to bel ieve that the company wi l l  be able to pay i ts  debts  as  and when they become
due and payable; and

·      the consol idated enti ty disclosure statement is  true and correct.
 
Signed in accordance with a  resolution of directors .
 
On behalf of the directors
 
 
Director
Dated this 17 day of September 2024
 

-end-
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